

MINUTES

of the

ORDINARY MEETING OF COUNCIL

WEDNESDAY 26 JUNE 2019

at

Murrindindi Shire Council Council Chamber Perkins Street Alexandra

6.00 pm

** Audio recordings of all Council meetings are taken by Council's Governance Officers and published on Council's website. (Resolution of Council 23 January 2019)

INDEX

1.	PLEDGE AND RECONCILIATION STATEMENT	2
2.	APOLOGIES AND REQUESTS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE	2
3.	COMMUNITY RECOGNITION	2
4.	DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST OR CONFLICT OF INTEREST	2
5.	CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES	2
6.	PETITIONS	3
7.	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION TIME	3
7.1 7.2	Open Forum Questions of Council	
8.	OUR PLACE	4
8.1	Planning Scheme Amendment Request – 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Cen (Kinglake Cemetery Proposal)	
8.2	518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road - Use and Development of Land for the Purpose of a Dwelling	14
9.	OUR PEOPLE	22
9.1	Proposed Removal of Library Fines	22
10.	OUR PROSPERITY	25
10.1	Grants and Contributions Policy	25
11.	OUR PROMISE	27
11.1 11.2 11.3 11.4 11.5	Customer Service Policy Procurement Policy Annual Review 2019 Borrowings Policy 2019/20 Annual Budget and Strategic Resource Plan Adoption Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council Appointment	29 30 32
12.	NOTICES OF MOTIONS	38
13.	MATTERS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETING	39
14.	URGENT BUSINESS	39
15.	COUNCILLOR REPORTS	39
15.2 15.3 15.4 15.5	Cr Margaret Rae Cr Jackie Ashe Cr Eric Lording Cr Charlotte Bisset Cr Rebecca Bowles Cr Leigh Dunscombe Cr Sandice McAulay – Mayoral Report	40 41 41 41 42
16.	CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT	
17.	ASSEMBLIES OF COUNCILLORS	46
18.	SEALING REGISTER	48
19.	CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS	49
20.	PUBLIC PARTICIPATION TIME	50
20.1	Open Forum	50

1. PLEDGE AND RECONCILIATION STATEMENT

The meeting was opened with the Mayor declaring the following Pledge on behalf of all Councillors:

"As the Councillors democratically elected to represent our community as the Murrindindi Shire Council, we are committed to working together in the best interests of the people who live in our municipality, who conduct business here and those who visit.

We would like to acknowledge the traditional owners of the Taungurung Nation, and pay our respect to their Elders past and present, and its emerging and future leaders."

The Mayor and Councillors showed respect for the passing of Jordan Purcell by sharing a oneminute silence who tragically passed away on Sunday 16 June 2019.

2. APOLOGIES AND REQUESTS FOR LEAVE OF ABSENCE

That Council accept the apology of Cr C Bisset.

RESOLUTION:

Cr J Ashe / Cr L Dunscombe That Council accept the apology of Cr C Bisset.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

Present:

Councillors S McAulay (Chair), L Dunscombe, R Bowles, J Ashe, E Lording, M Rae

In attendance:

Chief Executive Officer: Craig Lloyd Director Corporate and Shared Services: Michael Chesworth Director Community Engagement: Shivaun Brown Manager Governance and Risk: Tara Carter Manager Business Services: Graham Haylock Acting Manager Development Services: Natalie Stewart Acting Coordinator Statutory Planning: Darren Jackson Senior Planning Officer: Melissa Crane Governance Officer: Audrey Kyval

3. <u>COMMUNITY RECOGNITION</u>

Nil.

4. DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST OR CONFLICT OF INTEREST

Nil.

5. CONFIRMATION OF MINUTES

5.1 Minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 22 May 2019.

Officer Recommendation

That the minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 22 May 2019 be confirmed.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr R Bowles

That the minutes of the Ordinary Meeting of Council held on 22 May 2019 be confirmed. CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

5.2 Minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held on 12 June 2019.

Officer Recommendation

That the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held on 12 June 2019 be confirmed.

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr M Rae

That the minutes of the Special Meeting of Council held on 12 June 2019 be confirmed.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

6. <u>PETITIONS</u>

There are no new petitions to be tabled at this meeting.

The Chairperson declared Public Participation Time.

7. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION TIME

7.1 OPEN FORUM

Jemima Richards spoke against the Planning Scheme Amendment Request – 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (Kinglake Cemetery Proposal) (item 8.1 on the Agenda).

Michelle Laukart spoke against the Officer Recommendation of the 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road - Use and Development of Land for the Purpose of a Dwelling (item 8.2 on the Agenda).

Jack Russell spoke about Council's decision to cease being a provider of Aged and Disability Services.

<u>RESOLUTION:</u> Cr E Lording / Cr J Ashe That the speaking time for Jack Russell be extended for a further three minutes.

CARRIED

Alex Pottage spoke in support of Planning Scheme Amendment Request – 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (Kinglake Cemetery Proposal) (item 8.1 on the Agenda).

7.2 QUESTIONS OF COUNCIL

One question was received from Jack Russell:

Question 1 What reason is there for your failure to comply for the obligation made on the 9 November 2018 to review the decision to further extend the currency of the ban to my free speech for public participation open forum of open Council, set for six months and with an end date of the 9 June 2019 and now in default? The Chief Executive Officer responded to Question 1:

Mr Russell has been previously restricted from participating in Open Forum. This was one of a few restrictions placed on Mr Russell when his ban on entering Council premises was lifted effective 1 December 2018.

I undertook to review the restriction on Mr Russell's participation in Open Forum in six months time - with no specific due date. I have done so and he is allowed to participate and has participated in this evenings Open Forum. Mr Russell has been advised of this in writing.

The Chairperson closed Public Participation Time.

8. OUR PLACE

8.1 PLANNING SCHEME AMENDMENT REQUEST – 265 WHITTLESEA-KINGLAKE ROAD, KINGLAKE CENTRAL (KINGLAKE CEMETERY PROPOSAL)

Attachment(s):Locality Plan (refer Attachment 8.1a)Site Plan (refer Attachment 8.1b)Zoning Map (refer Attachment 8.1c)Kinglake Cemetery Amendment Report (refer Attachment 8.1d)

Purpose

A formal request to amend the Murrindindi Planning Scheme has been received in relation to land at 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central. Together with Frank Thompson Reserve and land vested in the Kinglake Range Foundation, the site forms part of a tract of land for public and community use on Ganglehoff Hill in Kinglake Central.

The land is currently zoned for public use and reserved for cemetery purposes. The amendment request has been lodged by planning consultants on behalf of the Kinglake Cemetery Trust with the support of the Department of Health and Human Services.

The primary intent of the amendment is to change the purpose of the existing Public Use Zone from 'PUZ7 other public use' to 'PUZ5 cemetery'. The amendment also proposes to remove the Environmental Significance Overlay (Schedule 1) to be generally consistent with other land zoned for public purposes.

This report provides a Council officer's assessment of the request, sets out the background to Council's earlier consideration of a previous similar amendment request in 2016/17, summarises community consultation findings undertaken by the amendment proponent and discusses planning scheme changes since Council's previous decision.

Council officers have not formed a firm view about the proposal but believe exhibition of a proposed amendment is appropriate to more fully elicit and consider the range of community views and submissions in relation to the proposal.

Officer Recommendation

That Council:

1. request authorisation from the Minister for Planning under Section 8A(2) and (3) of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* to prepare and exhibit a planning scheme amendment to the Murrindindi Planning Scheme in relation to land reserved for cemetery purposes at 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central

- 2. advise the Minister for Planning that notification of an amendment would be undertaken in accordance with Section 19 of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*.
- 3. require the amendment proponent to address the following matters prior to seeking authorisation to prepare an exhibit an amendment:
 - a. a report which addresses and has regard to the bushfire planning provisions of Clause 13.02 and 44.06 of the Murrindindi Planning Scheme
 - b. development of a professionally prepared concept plan showing how the cemetery land will be developed and integrated with other public land to the east
 - c. a response to Ministerial Direction No. 19 and Planning Advisory Note No. 73 in relation to Environmental Protection Authority (EPA) requirements
 - d. further clarification of measures to ensure that a crematorium use will not be established on the land
- 4. prepare and exhibit a planning scheme amendment following any authorisation granted by the Minister for Planning.

Subject Land and Surrounds

The subject land comprises a vacant reserve located on the Kinglake Ranges at 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (refer Attachment 8.1a). The land is located 1.5 kilometres (km) south of the Kinglake Central community precinct on Extons Road and 2.5km northwest of the Kinglake Township.

The subject land (refer Attachment 8.1b) comprises an area of 5.1 hectares (ha) which is cleared other than for a few scattered mature trees. Road access is available from Blackwood Lane which is currently an unsealed local access road that intersects with the Whittlesea-Kinglake Road adjacent to the northern portion of the land. The reserve has a 133 metre (m) abuttal to Blackwood Lane.

The northern portion of the reserve (elevation 620m) forms part of the Great Dividing Range and provides panoramic views to the south across Melbourne and the Central Business District. The land falls approximately 30m in elevation from the northern to southern boundary over a distance of approximately 408m.

The land to the east (which also forms part of 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road) comprises further reserved land similar in size to the subject land. The State Government has previously transferred responsibility for this adjacent reserve to the Kinglake Ranges Foundation to establish a multipurpose facility which to date has not proceeded. The Frank Thomson Reserve (225 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road) is located a short distance to the east and contains a recently completed bushfire memorial.

The western boundary of the subject land abuts a Government Road (an extension of Blackwood Lane) which is licenced to an adjoining land owner. Further land to the west comprises agricultural land and associated dwellings used for cropping and grazing and areas of native vegetation. Land to the south comprises a vacant private land parcel containing native vegetation. The Kinglake National Park is located south and southwest of the subject land.

Background

Amendment C33 and the Introduction of the Public Use Zone

Prior to the 2009 Victorian bushfires the subject land and the adjacent land to the east comprised a single vacant private lot within the Farming Zone. Following the 2009 bushfires the State Government acquired the land and rezoned it to Public Use Zone 7 - other public use (PUZ7) as part of a Ministerial amendment (Amendment C33) gazetted on 4 November 2010. The purpose of the amendment, as set out in the Amendment C33 Explanatory Report, was to '...enable the replacement of the Kinglake National Park office and depot, which were destroyed by fire on 7

February 2009, and the development of the Kinglake Ranges Cultural and Community Facility.' The Explanatory Report further stated:

'The acquisition of this land and incorporation in the public land estate will provide an opportunity to enhance the Kinglake National Park by providing for improved visitor access and facilities as well as providing the opportunity to revegetate the area which was cleared and has been bare since 1987, enhancing biodiversity values and improving connectivity with natural vegetation in the national park.

The rezoning and development it allows would also have a positive social and economic effect for the Kinglake Ranges community responding to the immediate community needs of residents by providing key public and social [infrastructure]. This will assist to strengthen local confidence in the recovery and resettlement of the Kinglake Ranges area.'

The amendment was found to be consistent with the objectives of planning in Victoria and relevant State and local planning provisions as set out in the Murrindindi Planning Scheme. The amendment also made 'proper use of the Victorian Planning Provisions as it rezones land to a Public Use Zone to facilitate the use and development of land for public purposes.' The amendment was prepared and approved by the Minister without any public notice requirements.

The Kinglake Ranges Foundation have been appointed by the State Government as the public land manager for the eastern portion of the site (Crown Allotment 2022) but as previously noted no development of this land has occurred to date and the land remains vacant.

The extent of the PUZ7 zoning currently affecting the subject land is further shown in Attachment 8.1c.

Reservation of the Land for Cemetery Purposes

The Kinglake National Park facility did not proceed because an alternative site was found. The State Government then subdivided the reserve and reallocated the western portion of the land (CA 2023) to the Kinglake Ranges Cemetery. The land was reserved in accordance with the *Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978* for use as a cemetery (Government Gazette, 26 November 2015) and declared a public cemetery by the Governor in Council under the *Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2003* to be managed by the Kinglake Ranges Cemetery Trust by Order in Council dated 10 March 2016.

Amendment C59

The first planning scheme amendment request to better reflect the cemetery reservation on the land was considered by the previous Council at its meeting on 27 April 2016 (see Item 6.2 of Minutes) Council was advised at that time that:

- the subject land had recently been reserved for cemetery purposes
- Kinglake Cemetery Trust (KCT) were working with the Department of Housing and Human Services (DHHS) to advance a cemetery proposal
- the existing 1889 cemetery reservation at 825 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road Pheasant Creek was no longer considered suitable for cemetery purposes due to constraints relating to native vegetation and zoning
- the cemetery proposal on the subject land could proceed under a planning permit pathway (under the existing PUZ7 provisions relating to 'other public use') but it was DHHS policy that cemeteries be included in the PUZ5 provisions relating to cemeteries. This change would exempt the need to obtain a planning permit for the future use and development of the land for cemetery purposes
- further changes to the Environmental Significance Overlay (Schedule 1) were required in support the zoning changes

Council resolved to adopt the Council officer recommendation and the Minister for Planning subsequently authorised Council to prepare and exhibit the amendment (Amendment C59). The amendment was exhibited from July to September 2016. A total of 23 submissions were received from individuals and authorities. The 19 individual submissions were opposed to the amendment proceeding.

At is meeting on 24 May 2017 (see Item 6.1 of Minutes) Council considered the submissions received and a Council officer recommendation to refer objecting submissions to an independent panel appointment by the Minister for Planning. Further Council officer recommendations made at that time included:

- to advise the Kinglake Cemetery Trust and the independent panel that members of the community consider that inadequate pre-amendment consultation was undertaken by the Trust regarding the need and site options for a cemetery in the Kinglake Ranges and request the independent panel consider the nature of the consultation undertaken by the Kinglake Cemetery Trust
- to request the proponents of the amendment to provide siting and design details of a future cemetery to support further discussions of amenity issues at a panel hearing.

Council resolved at the meeting to abandon the amendment 'due to the lack of community consultation prior to the commencement of the amendment process'. The resolution further notes that the Council had regard to the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*, Minister's Directions, the Victorian Planning Provisions and social and environmental effects as part of its decision to abandon the amendment.

Current Amendment Request

The current amendment request seeks the same planning scheme outcome as the earlier Amendment C59 request which is summarised below:

- change the purpose of the existing Public Use Zone from 'PUZ7 other public use' to 'PUZ5 cemetery/ crematoria'. A rezoning of the land is required to facilitate this outcome
- delete of the Environmental Significance Overlay (Schedule 1) which relates to the protection of agricultural land. This change would be generally consistent with other land zoned for public purposes.

Unlike the previous amendment request the current request is accompanied by letters and petitions of community support which are further discussed in this report.

The KCT has advised that it aims are to establish:

- a lawn cemetery which would be sympathetic to the layout of the land
- a veterans' memorial garden with use of either RSL or Gallipoli roses
- a pioneers' memorial garden
- a collection of small garden areas and low walls for the memorialisation of ashes
- revegetation of areas using the indigenous plants of the Ranges area.

A report prepared by planning consultants in support of the amendment has been provided, which includes the current planning policy context and strategic assessment (refer to Attachment 8.1d). Since the earlier amendment request, a Bushfire Management Overlay (BMO), and related provisions, have been introduced into the planning scheme. The current request does not seek to

remove the BMO but addresses how these new controls can be addressed in the context of a future cemetery proposal.

Consistent with the previous amendment request, a crematorium does not form part of any current or future proposal for the land.

Planning Assessment

Planning Policy Framework

State Planning Policy objectives seek 'to provide fairer distribution of and access to, social and cultural infrastructure' and in particular responsible authorities are required to 'identify and protect land for cemeteries...' (Clause 19.02-4S).

Other Framework provisions relevant to the amendment request include:

- ensure growth in periurban areas is managed to protect and enhance identified valued attributes (Clause 11.03-3S)
- ensure that development respects rural character and minimises visual impacts on surrounding natural scenery and landscape features including ridgelines and hill tops (Clauses 11.03-5S, 12.05-2S and 15.01-6S)
- protect and conserve environmentally sensitive areas (Clause 12.05-1S)
- protect the State's agricultural base by preserving productive farmland (Clause 14.01-1S)
- require development to respond to its context in terms of character, cultural identity, natural features, surround landscape and climate (Clause 15.01-1S).

Local Planning Policy Framework

Council's planning vision anticipates sustainable population and economic growth in and around township areas and within the Kinglake Ranges (Clause 21-02-1), support for the ongoing development of community infrastructure and services and the rebuilding and revitalisation of towns and communities affected by the 2009 bushfires (Clause 21.06-4).

A further detailed response to State and local planning policy provisions is set out in the planning consultant report.

Zone Provisions

The purpose of the existing Public Use Zone (PUZ) which currently applies to the land (Clause 36.01) is 'to recognise public land use for public utility and community services and facilities.' A further purpose seeks to 'provide for associated uses that are consistent with the intent with the public land reservation or purpose.'

Clause 36.01-6 provides a 'table of public land use' (see below) which correspond to the planning scheme maps. The intent of the amendment is to change the purpose of the public land affecting the land from 'other public use (PUZ7) to 'cemetery/ crematoria' (PUZ5). This change will allow the land to be used and developed under the zone for cemetery purposes without the need for a planning permit.

Table	of public	land use

36.01-6 006

	-		
Tabl	e of r	oublic	land use

19/01/200
VC37

Shown on the planning scheme map	Purpose of public land use	
PUZ1	Service & Utility	
PUZ2	Education	
PUZ3	Health & Community	
PUZ4	Transport	
PUZ5	Cemetery/Crematorium	
PUZ6	Local Government	
PUZ7	Other public use	

The Department of Environment, Land, Water and Planning (DELWP) have issued guidance notes on the application of public use zones (Planning Practice Note 2, January 2018) which state:

'Public land zones are not intended to identify the legal status of the land nor indicate the existing land use. They are intended to set out appropriate statutory requirements which apply to the use and development of the land in addition to the relevant land management legislation.

It is intended that a public land zone be applied to public land where the surrounding zoning is inappropriate or where there is a special reason to identify separately the public land for planning purposes. This will commonly be where land management arrangements apply under legislation other than the Planning and Environment Act 1987.

A useful test in considering if a public land zone is appropriate is to determine if a public land manager needs some level of flexibility, protection or exemption different from the surrounding zone provisions because of the special nature of the public land or asset and its control (in a land use or management sense) under another Act. For this reason, public land zones should be applied in consultation with the relevant public land manager.

A public land zone will normally be applied to public land owned or managed by a government department or public land manager, including national parks, state forests, coastal crown land and land reserved under the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978.'

Having regard to the above guidance it is noted:

- the Minister for Planning has previously determined that the land should have the benefit of a PUZ (Amendment C27)
- the land has been reserved under the Crown Land (Reserves) Act 1978
- the appointed public land manager (Kinglake Cemetery Trust) have requested the rezoning due to the special nature of the public land (cemetery)
- the government department responsible for the land, DHHS, is supportive of the amendment
- the land is capable of being managed under separate legislation (Cemeteries and Crematoria Act 2013) and related regulations.

Environmental Significance Overlay (Schedule1)

This overlay seeks to protect high quality agricultural land located on the Great Dividing Range which constitute a finite resource. These areas are characterised by well-drained red soils, high rainfall and access to water. Objectives seek to 'prevent the conversion of high quality agricultural land to non-soil based development'.

The Ministerial amendment (C27) which rezoned the subject land (and adjacent land) to the current PUZ9 did not remove the ESO1 from the rezoned area. However, the Minister for

Planning at the time was satisfied that the change in the zone from farming to public use had regard to environmental effects and balanced present and future interests. The deletion of ESO1 has previously been recommended by Council officers is relation to Amendment C59.

In relation to the current proposal to delete the overlay in conjunction with the current amendment request, the Public Land Zones Planning Practice Note 2 (January 2018) provides the following guidance:

'In deciding whether to apply an overlay to land, the public land zones should be treated in the same manner as other zones.

The decision about whether to apply an overlay to public land will depend on the nature of the overlay and the land management legislation of the public land manager. For example, a Vegetation Protection Overlay over a state forest duplicates the function of the public land manager. However, a Vegetation Protection Overlay may sometimes be appropriate over significant vegetation on road or railway land (where the core business is not the management of the vegetation).

Like the application of any overlay, there must be specific justification for the additional requirement. Appropriate provisions must be made for the routine operations of the public use, such as exemption for regular maintenance.'

In relation to the current ESO1 provisions, under part 3.0 of the Schedule, a planning permit is not required for any buildings or works by any government department or public authority for the purposes of any public utility, services, works or facility. It is likely that DHHS (or the Trust operating on its behalf) would be exempt from the provisions in relation to cemetery-related buildings and works. Accordingly, the removal of the overlay continues to be reasonable and consistent with the treatment of other PUZ sites.

The State Government is currently undertaking a review of Strategic Agricultural Land within 100km of Melbourne. However, as the subject land has previously been zoned for public purposes it is currently identified as 'constrained land' and not included in the ongoing assessment area.

Bushfire Management Overlay

Since Council's consideration of the earlier amendment proposal new bushfire planning provisions have been introduced 'to strengthen the resilience of settlements and communities to bushfire through risk-based planning that prioritises the protection of human life' (Clause 13.02-1S). Council is now required to ensure any planning scheme amendment 'properly assess bushfire risk and includes appropriate bushfire protection measures.'

Further provisions seek to:

- ensure the bushfire risk relating to future community infrastructure will not increase as a result of future land use and development
- achieve no net increase in risk in relation to future community infrastructure through the implementation of bushfire protection measures and were possible reducing bushfire risk overall
- not approve planning scheme amendments that will result in the introduction or intensification of development in an area that has, or will on completion have, more than a Bushfire Attack Level (BAL)-12.5 rating.

A BMO has also been introduced on the land and surrounding land (Clause 44.06). The current amendment request intends to retain the BMO and the consultant report notes that these provisions will trigger relevant requirements at the time of development. However, a 'cemetery' (which includes ancillary activity such as funeral chapels) is not a use that would trigger any permit requirements under the BMO (as it is not technically a 'place of assembly' under the provisions of the planning scheme). Notwithstanding, the amendment proponent has indicated a

willingness to prepare further reports, consult with the Country Fire Authority (CFA) and consider restrictions on high risk days. It will be appropriate that further requirements be addressed and agreed to prior to any authorisation or exhibition of an amendment.

Under the previous amendment proposal (Amendment C59) the land was not within a BMO and the CFA supported the amendment.

Community Consultation

To address previous recommendations of Council officers and Council, the KCT have sought the views of local residents and community groups within the Kinglake Ranges about the proposal for a cemetery on the existing reserve. This consultation occurred in 2017 following the earlier Council resolution. The Trust has advised that 168 individuals have signed letters of support for the cemetery proposal including 127 residents from 78 households within the Kinglake Ranges area and a further 37 residents within the broader region who are members of the Kinglake Senior Citizens, Whittlesea Senior Citizens, Kinglake Historical Society, Hurstbridge RSL and Yea-Kinglake RSL. The Whittlesea and Kinglake Anglican Church has provided a letter of support on behalf of the Parish Council and its local churches noting that 'for a significant period of time, the members of the Kinglake Ranges community have strongly desired for a cemetery in Kinglake'. The proponent has contrasted these consultation findings with the 19 objecting submissions previously received in relation to the public exhibition of Amendment C59.

The application does not present evidence that the consultation that occurred in 2017, engaged those members of the community that previously opposed the planning scheme amendment proposal. The application also does not present evidence in relation to the broader issue of 'need' and other alternative locations. However, the outcomes of the consultation show a level of community support that, in the view of Council officers, support the amendment proposal proceeding to a more formal public exhibition stage enabling a broader canvassing of community views.

It should be noted that there is no statutory or legislative requirement for an amendment proponent to undertake community consultation prior to, or as a condition of, any formal consideration of an amendment request by a responsible authority.

In relation to consultation with other affected authorities, DELWP, Melbourne Water and VicRoads have previously advised that they have no objections to the amendment proposal. In relation to the vehicular access arrangements to the land, Council officers acknowledge that this was previously a contentious issue for individual submitters, however a Transport Impact Assessment Report (TIAR) has now been prepared to the satisfaction of VicRoads.

A new Ministerial Direction (No.19) now requires that the written views of the EPA be obtained about the potential impacts of a proposed amendment on the environment, amenity and human health prior to seeking authorisation to prepare and exhibit an amendment. It will be appropriate that this further work be completed prior to any authorisation request. The Council officer recommendations set out this requirement.

Consideration of Previous Individual Submissions Under Amendment C59

The Council officer report (24 May 2017) prepared in relation to Amendment C59 provided a summary of submissions received and a detailed planning response (see Attachment 6.1b of Council minutes). The Council officer views set out in this earlier response remain relevant in the context of the current proposal.

Council officers continue to acknowledge that the reservation of the land for cemetery purpose by the State Government and the subsequent declaration as a public cemetery by the Governor in Council occurred with limited consultation with the broader Kinglake Ranges community. These decisions appear to have been made in the context of the bushfire recovery efforts. In retrospect, the relevant authorities and ministers should have integrated all relevant decision making (including planning scheme changes, needs assessment and site options) and consulted broadly

on preferred outcomes. The amendment proponent notes, by way of fairness and comparison, that the allocation of reserved land to the Kinglake Ranges Foundation occurred in a similar manner.

- 12 -

The *Planning and Environment Act 1987* provides for a staged approach to considering changes to a planning scheme:

- 1. initial consideration of an amendment by the responsible authority
- 2. authorisation to prepare and exhibit and amendment by the Minister for Planning
- 3. consideration of submissions by the responsible authority
- 4. findings and recommendations of an independent panel and consideration by the responsible authority
- 5. adoption (or abandonment) by the responsible authority
- 6. approval consideration by the Minister for Planning
- 7. gazettal of an amendment.

This report relates to 'Step 1' above. The previous amendment was abandoned by Council at the conclusion of Step 3 above.

Conclusion

The proposed amendment seeks to facilitate the use and development of the land for a cemetery within the Kinglake Ranges. Authorisation of the amendment will allow for formal consultation to occur. Following an exhibition period Council will be given a further opportunity to consider submissions and determine whether the amendment should proceed, whether further changes are required and whether submissions should be referred to an independent panel for further consideration.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This matter is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Place strategic objective 'we will maintain and enhance places to be attractive and liveable, in balance with our natural environment' and the strategy 'through good land use planning enhance the liveability, prosperity and rural character of our Shire'.

Relevant Legislation

Section 4(1) of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* set out the following objectives for planning in Victoria:

- to provide for the fair, orderly, economic and sustainable use, and development of land
- to protect public assets and enable the orderly provision and coordination of public facilities for the benefit of the community
- to balance the present and future interests of all Victorians
- to ensure the effects on the environment are considered and provide for explicit consideration of social and economic effects when decisions are made about the use and development of land
- to establish a clear procedure for amending planning scheme, with appropriate public participation in decision making
- to ensure that those affected by proposals for the use, development or protection of land or changes in planning policy or requirements receive appropriate notice.

Financial Implications and Risk

The amendment proponent has paid the prescribed amendment consideration fee. Further fees are payable if the amendment proceeds to authorisation and exhibition.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

Refer to previous discussions in this report relating stakeholder consultation.

ALTERNATE MOTION:

Cr L Dunscombe proposed: That Council:

- 1. resolve to not support the proposed amendment to the Murrindindi Planning Scheme to rezone land at 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central to facilitate a proposed cemetery on the land
- 2. advise the amendment proponent that:
 - a. the community consultation undertaken in relation to the amendment proposal is deficient for the following reasons:
 - It has not been undertaken independently and has not employed appropriate engagement strategies including public meetings and community notices
 - it has not adequately engaged objectors relating to the previous amendment request
 - insufficient information was provided to the public in relation to the location of the cemetery
 - it did not canvass the question of need or alternative locations for a cemetery
 - the consultation was undertaken in 2017
 - b. any new or alternative public use of the subject land must be informed by a broader concept plan and vision to ensure the proper integration and planning of other adjoining and nearby public land.

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr E Lording That Council:

- 1. resolve to not support the proposed amendment to the Murrindindi Planning Scheme to rezone land at 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central to facilitate a proposed cemetery on the land
- 2. advise the amendment proponent that:
 - a. the community consultation undertaken in relation to the amendment proposal is deficient for the following reasons:
 - It has not been undertaken independently and has not employed appropriate engagement strategies including public meetings and community notices
 - it has not adequately engaged objectors relating to the previous amendment request
 - insufficient information was provided to the public in relation to the location of the cemetery
 - it did not canvass the question of need or alternative locations for a cemetery

- the consultation was undertaken in 2017
- b. any new or alternative public use of the subject land must be informed by a broader concept plan and vision to ensure the proper integration and planning of other adjoining and nearby public land.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

8.2 518 WHITTLESEA-KINGLAKE ROAD - USE AND DEVELOPMENT OF LAND FOR THE PURPOSE OF A DWELLING

Attachment(s): Application Documents (19/32263) Letter of Support (distributed to Councillors separately)

Land:	518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central
Proposal:	Use and development of land for the purpose of a dwelling and modification of
	access to Road Zone Category 1
Applicant:	Victorian Extension Design (VED)
Zoning:	Farming
Overlays:	Bushfire Management
-	Environmental Significance

Locality Plan



Purpose

This report recommends that Council refuse to grant a planning permit to use and develop land at 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central for the purpose of a dwelling and related access works. The proposal is a predominantly residential use in an agricultural area that has the potential to limit the ability of nearby and adjoining properties to be used for more intensive agricultural uses and create conflict with surrounding agricultural uses.

Officer Recommendation

That Council issue a refusal to grant a permit to use and develop land for a single dwelling at 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake, Kinglake Central (Lot 2 LP 111055), on the following grounds:

- 1. the proposal does not comply with the requirements of Clause 13.07-1S Land Use Compatibility as residential uses should be directed to a residential area
- 2. the proposal does not comply with the requirements of Clause 14.01 Agriculture, in that it creates predominantly residential use in a farming environment that has the potential to limit the operation of adjoining and nearby agricultural uses in high quality agricultural land

- 3. the proposal does not comply with the requirements of Clause 21.03-1 Agriculture, Objective 2: Rural and agricultural land use and development as the proposal will establish a residential use on agricultural land, and does not protect the potential for productive capacity on nearby agricultural land
- 4. the proposal does not comply with the requirements of Clause 35.07 Farming Zone as the proposed dwelling has the potential to be adversely affected by agricultural activities on nearby agricultural land and has the capacity to limit the operation and expansion of adjoining and nearby agricultural uses
- 5. the proposal does not comply with the purpose and decision guidelines of Clause 42.01 Environmental Significance Overlay as it does not protect the high quality agricultural land.

The Land and Surroundings

The subject land is a vacant 4,281 square metre (m²) parcel of land, triangular in shape, and bounded by Whittlesea-Kinglake Road to the south and private property in the Farming Zone on all other boundaries. The site is elevated from the road by approximately 2 metres (m), with access provided by an existing gravel crossover that extends over the shared bicycle and pedestrian path which runs parallel to the Whittlesea-Kinglake Road. The road reserve adjacent to the property contains native vegetation, however the broader area characterised by cleared agricultural land.

Historically the land contained a dwelling but this was destroyed in the 2009 bushfires and no consent was subsequently applied for or issued for a replacement dwelling. The land was subsequently sold to the current landowner/applicant.

The nearest dwelling is approximately 500m away. Further to the east of the subject site is a ground water extraction business and a berry farm on Extons Road. The broader area is characterised by larger allotments that are predominantly cleared and used for farming purposes.

Proposal

The proposal is to construct a single storey dwelling on the allotment with associated infrastructure including effluent disposal and water tanks. The property is not capable of supporting any farming or agricultural activity and will, in effect, be used for rural living purposes. The application also seeks approval to modify the access to the proposed dwelling from the Whittlesea-Kinglake Road.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

Notice of the application was provided in accordance with the requirements of the *Planning and Environment Act 1987* by sending letters to adjoining and opposite property owners and occupiers. One submission supporting the application was received from the adjoining property owner. No objecting submissions were received.

Discussion

The purpose of the Farming Zone is to support the use of the land for agriculture, to encourage the retention of productive agricultural land and to ensure that the use of the land for dwellings does not adversely affect current and future agricultural activities (both on the land and on nearby land). The Zone sets out decision guidelines which emphasise the need to sustain agricultural uses, avoid the fragmentation of land and the proliferation of dwellings.

The subject land is only 4,821 m² in size, and has no capacity to sustain an agricultural use on the land. A dwelling on this land would result in a residential use in a farming zone. The main issues relate to conflicts that are likely to occur with nearby and adjoining farming properties. To the northeast of the subject site there is a water extraction business and an active berry farm. The land directly adjacent to this small lot has capacity to be used for an intensive agricultural use.

The application submission suggests that the use of the nearby land for water extraction would undermine the ability of other properties in the area to access enough water to undertake intensive horticulture. The applicant states that it is 'unlikely that a more intensive water-based agricultural use will occur'. This view is not supported by Council officers and it is noted that the property to the east of the water extraction site has been used for intensive horticulture in recent years, indicating that the extraction is not limiting access to water in the general area.

The purpose of the Environmental Significance Overlay is to identify and protect high quality agricultural land. Development proposals that have the potential to constrain agricultural outcomes or convert high quality land to non-soil based development are generally not supported.

In relation to the application proposal the proposed dwelling will have setbacks from the rear (northern) boundary of 8.5m and the side (eastern) boundary of 10m. These edges directly adjoin cleared, high quality agricultural land. While this land is currently being used for low level grazing purposes, there is significant potential for the land to be used for more intensive forms of agriculture. It is likely that such forms of agriculture would create conflict with the occupants of the dwelling and requirements for buffers within the adjacent farmland to reduce impacts relating to noise, dust, spray drift etc. As a planning permit 'runs with the land' it is likely that new landowners may have different expectation in relation to residential amenity.

It is for these reasons that officers recommend that Council refuse to grant a permit for the development.

Further, the Victorian Government has recently announced its intentions to further protect strategically significant agricultural land within 100 kilometres (km) of Melbourne. The subject land is currently included in the investigation area. Following recent community and stakeholder consultation, the Victorian Government is now preparing a range of strategies and planning controls for further discussion.

Referrals

The application was referred to VicRoads and the Country Fire Authority (CFA), who have raised no objections subject to conditions on any permit that may issue.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This report is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Place strategic objective 'we will maintain and enhance places to be attractive and liveable, in balance with our natural environment' and 'through good land use planning enhance the liveability, prosperity and rural character of our Shire'.

Relevant Legislation

The proposal is being considered under the provisions of the Murrindindi Planning Scheme and the *Planning and Environment Act 1987*.

Financial Implications and Risk

There are no financials implications or risks associated with the writing of this report.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Legal/Policy Issues

State Planning Policy Framework

13.02-1S Bushfire Planning

Objective - to strengthen the resilience of settlements and communities to bushfire through riskbased planning that prioritises the protection of human life.

13.07-1S Land Use Compatibility

Objective - to safeguard community amenity while facilitating appropriate commercial, industrial or other uses with potential off-site effects

Strategies:

- directing land uses to appropriate locations
- using a range of building design, urban design, operational and land use separation measures.

14.01 Agriculture

Objective - to protect productive farmland which is of strategic significance in the local or regional context.

Strategies:

- ensure that the State's agricultural land base is protected from the unplanned loss of productive agricultural land due to permanent changes of use
- limit new housing development in rural areas by:
 - o directing housing growth into existing settlements
 - discouraging development of isolated small lots in the rural zones from use for dwellings or other incompatible uses
 - o encouraging consolidation of existing isolated small lots in rural zones
- in considering a proposal to develop agricultural land, the following factors must be considered:
 - desirability and impacts of removing the land from primary production, given its agricultural productivity
 - impacts on the continuation of primary production on adjacent land, with particular regard to land values and the viability of infrastructure for such production
 - compatibility between the proposed or likely development and the existing uses of the surrounding land.

Local Planning Policy Framework

21.01 Context

Issues:

• agriculture - the recognition and protection of the Goulburn River Valley and other areas as high quality agricultural land, with further opportunities to diversify and value add to agriculture.

21.03-2 Agriculture Context:

- the Kinglake Ranges and Toolangi areas have high quality soils and agricultural value
- agricultural land is under increasing pressure for conversion into non-agricultural uses. It is important that any new uses, subdivisions or developments in rural areas do not reduce the productive capacity of agricultural land and the capability of existing agricultural, aquaculture, horticultural or timber productions uses to continue.

Issues:

- agriculture has economic and strategic significance for the municipality and has potential for continued expansion
- the protection of agricultural land is necessary to support future growth of the agricultural sector and the diversification of agricultural activities

- potential for rural subdivision and housing to lead to incremental loss of productive agricultural land
- potential for use of agricultural land for non-agricultural or rural-living purposes to conflict with established or future agricultural and horticultural land uses.

Strategies:

- ensure that the use and development of rural land is compatible with surrounding agricultural activities
- ensure that agricultural land is not developed for primarily residential purposes.

<u>Zoning</u>

35.07 Farming Zone Purpose:

- to provide for the use of the land for agriculture
- to encourage the retention of productive agricultural land
- to ensure that non-agricultural uses, including dwellings, do not adversely affect the use of land for agriculture.

Decision Guidelines:

- general issues:
 - how the use or development relates to sustainable land management
 - whether the site is suitable for the use or development and whether the proposal is compatible with adjoining and nearby land uses
- agricultural issues and the impacts from non-agricultural uses:
 - whether the use or development will support and enhance agricultural production
 - whether the use or development will permanently remove land from agricultural production
 - the potential for the development to limit the operation and expansion of adjoining and nearby agricultural uses
 - the capacity of the site to sustain the agricultural use
- dwelling issues:
 - whether the dwelling will be adversely affected by agricultural activities on adjacent and nearby land due to dust, noise, odour, use of chemicals and farm machinery, traffic and hours of operation.
 - whether the dwelling will adversely affect the operation and expansion of adjoining and nearby agricultural uses
 - the potential for the proposal to lead to concentration or proliferation of dwellings in the area and the impact of this use on the land for agriculture.

A planning permit is required for a dwelling in the Farming Zone on a lot of less than 40 hectares (ha).

Overlays

42.01 Environmental Significance Overlay Environmental Objective to be achieved:

 protect high quality agricultural land because of its versatility, productivity and ability to sustain a wide range of agricultural uses without degradation

- protect the potential production from high quality agricultural land
- prevent the unsustainable development of high quality agricultural land that may result in the loss of the quantity or quality of the land and limit the full productive potential of land
- prevent the conversion of high quality agricultural land to non-soil based development.

Decision Guidelines:

- maintain the productive potential of high quality agricultural land
- consider the suitability of high quality agricultural land in the assessment of development proposals.

A planning permit is required for a dwelling in the Environmental Significance Overlay.

44.06 Bushfire Management Overlay Purpose:

- to ensure that development of land prioritises the protection of human life and strengthens community resilience to bushfire
- to ensure development is only permitted where the risk to life or property from bushfire can be reduced to an acceptable level.

A planning permit is required for a dwelling in the Bushfire Management Overlay.

Particular Provisions

52.29 Land Adjacent to a Road Zone, Category 1 Purpose - to ensure appropriate access to identified roads.

Decision Guidelines:

- the views of the relevant road authority
- the effect of the proposal on the operation of the road and on public safety.

ALTERNATE MOTION:

Cr M Rae proposed:

That Council issue a planning permit to allow the use and development of the land for the purpose of a dwelling at 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (Lot 2, LP 111055) and modification of the access from the land to the Whittlesea-Kinglake Road subject to the following conditions:

- 1. the layout of the site and the size and type of the proposed buildings and works, including the materials of construction, as shown on the endorsed plan must not be altered or modified without the consent in writing of the Responsible Authority
- 2. this permit will expire if the development hereby permitted is not completed and the use commenced within two (2) years of the date of this permit, or any extension of such period the Responsible Authority may allow in writing. A request for an extension of time may be made before or within six months after the permit expiry date, where the use or development allowed by the permit has not yet commenced, or within 12 months after the permit expiry date, where the development allowed by the permit allowed by the permit
- 3. all external cladding including the roof and trims of the buildings approved under this permit must be coloured or painted in muted shades of green, brown or charcoal, or in a colour approved in writing by the Responsible Authority

- 4. prior to the commencement of any works, including site works, the applicant must obtain a septic tank permit from Council. Sewerage treatment must be by package treatment plant to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority
- 5. all sewage and sullage waters must be treated in accordance with the requirements of the Environment Protection Authority and the Council. All effluent shall be disposed of and contained within the curtilage of the land and must not discharge directly or indirectly to an adjoining property, street or any water course, water storage or dam. Sufficient land must be set aside and kept available for the purpose of effluent disposal
- 7. prior to the occupation of the dwelling a water system must be provided to accommodate a total minimum of 45,000 litres for domestic purposes
- 8. upon the written direction of the Responsible Authority the post and wire fence on the northern and eastern boundary of the subject land must be replaced with a solid fence to assist in mitigating impacts from agricultural activities on the adjoining land. The specifications and design and of the fence must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. When completed the fence must be maintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority

Country Fire Authority

9. Bushfire Management Plan

the Bushfire Management Plan prepared by Yarra Valley BAL Assessments, Version A, dated 20th November 2018 must be endorsed to form part of the permit and must not be altered unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CFA and the Responsible Authority

Regional Roads Victoria

 prior to the commencement of building works a crossover and driveway is to be constructed in accordance with Regional Roads Victoria Standard Drawing 2066 Typical Rural Driveway Access to Residential Properties – Type C to the satisfaction of and at no cost to Regional Roads Victoria

Notations

- 1. this permit does not authorise the commencement of any building construction works. Before any such development may commence, the applicant must apply for and obtain appropriate building approval
- 2. the surrounding land is zoned for farming purposes and can be used and developed for a range of agricultural activities without the need for any planning approvals. Some of these agricultural activities may have an amenity impact on the land and the dwelling particularly in relation to sprays, noise, odours and dust

Regional Roads Victoria

3. the proposed development requires the construction of a crossover. Separate approval under the Road Management Act for this activity may be required from Regional Roads Victoria. Please contact Regional Roads Victoria prior to commencing any works.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr L Dunscombe

That Council issue a planning permit to allow the use and development of the land for the purpose of a dwelling at 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (Lot 2, LP 111055) and modification of the access from the land to the Whittlesea-Kinglake Road subject to the following conditions:

1. the layout of the site and the size and type of the proposed buildings and works, including the materials of construction, as shown on the endorsed plan must not be altered or modified without the consent in writing of the Responsible Authority

- 2. this permit will expire if the development hereby permitted is not completed and the use commenced within two (2) years of the date of this permit, or any extension of such period the Responsible Authority may allow in writing. A request for an extension of time may be made before or within six months after the permit expiry date, where the use or development allowed by the permit has not yet commenced, or within 12 months after the permit expiry date, where the development allowed before the permit lawfully commenced before the permit expired
- 3. all external cladding including the roof and trims of the buildings approved under this permit must be coloured or painted in muted shades of green, brown or charcoal, or in a colour approved in writing by the Responsible Authority
- 4. prior to the commencement of any works, including site works, the applicant must obtain a septic tank permit from Council. Sewerage treatment must be by package treatment plant to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority
- 5. all sewage and sullage waters must be treated in accordance with the requirements of the Environment Protection Authority and the Council. All effluent shall be disposed of and contained within the curtilage of the land and must not discharge directly or indirectly to an adjoining property, street or any water course, water storage or dam. Sufficient land must be set aside and kept available for the purpose of effluent disposal
- 7. prior to the occupation of the dwelling a water system must be provided to accommodate a total minimum of 45,000 litres for domestic purposes
- 8. upon the written direction of the Responsible Authority the post and wire fence on the northern and eastern boundary of the subject land must be replaced with a solid fence to assist in mitigating impacts from agricultural activities on the adjoining land. The specifications and design and of the fence must be to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority. When completed the fence must be maintained to the satisfaction of the Responsible Authority

Country Fire Authority

9. Bushfire Management Plan

the Bushfire Management Plan prepared by Yarra Valley BAL Assessments, Version A, dated 20th November 2018 must be endorsed to form part of the permit and must not be altered unless otherwise agreed in writing by the CFA and the Responsible Authority

Regional Roads Victoria

 prior to the commencement of building works a crossover and driveway is to be constructed in accordance with Regional Roads Victoria Standard Drawing 2066 Typical Rural Driveway Access to Residential Properties – Type C to the satisfaction of and at no cost to Regional Roads Victoria

Notations

- 1. this permit does not authorise the commencement of any building construction works. Before any such development may commence, the applicant must apply for and obtain appropriate building approval
- 2. the surrounding land is zoned for farming purposes and can be used and developed for a range of agricultural activities without the need for any planning approvals. Some of these agricultural activities may have an amenity impact on the land and the dwelling particularly in relation to sprays, noise, odours and dust

Regional Roads Victoria

3. the proposed development requires the construction of a crossover. Separate approval under the Road Management Act for this activity may be required from

Regional Roads Victoria. Please contact Regional Roads Victoria prior to commencing any works.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

9. OUR PEOPLE

9.1 PROPOSED REMOVAL OF LIBRARY FINES

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to seek Council endorsement for the removal of overdue fines for all items borrowed from the Murrindindi Library Service and to waive all outstanding overdue fines, effective from 1 July 2019.

Officer Recommendation

That Council:

- removes overdue fines for items borrowed from the Murrindindi Library Service and from Council's Schedule of Fees and Charges as proposed for adoption in the Annual Budget 2019/2020
- 2. agrees to waive all outstanding overdue fines on library items.

Background

The Murrindindi Library Service (MLS) has a service agreement with Yarra Plenty Regional Library (YPRL) to use the YPRL's Library Management System (LMS) to manage its collection and to provide access for Murrindindi members to the YPRL collection.

In 2018, YPRL's Board endorsed the removal of overdue fines for children's items borrowed from the YPRL collection. In September 2018, Council endorsed a Council officer recommendation to do the same for children's items borrowed from the Murrindindi collection.

YPRL's Board has decided to remove all overdue fines for all library items and remove all outstanding fines levied against members. They are implementing this change on 3 June to take full effect on 1 July 2019.

As YPRL and MLS share an LMS, the changes proposed by YPRL will automatically apply to our collection. At our request, YPRL has investigated and advised that it would be possible for MLS to retain existing arrangements; i.e. to collect and record fines within the shared LMS. However, this would lead to some practical implementation issues. Borrowers can use either YPRL or MLS cards to access our shared collection and would potentially incur a fine from the MLS branch if they returned late an item borrowed at a YPRL branch. Conversely, an item borrowed at an MLS branch would incur no fine if returned late to a YPRL branch.

There is a growing body of evidence, local and international, that suggests that removal of overdue fines on library items can remove barriers to access to library services. This eliminates the loss of access to the benefits offered by libraries, including lifelong learning, participation and inclusion, and literacy. Evidence suggests that:

- fines act as a deterrent to the return of the item, rather than an incentive to return it. Evidence shows that more books tend to be returned when fines are abolished
- fines, if left unpaid, can:
 - reduce opportunities for inclusion and participation as they can result in a ban on users from the library
 - o reduce access to reading
 - o deter users and alienate them from the library and all of its services

- o disproportionally impact on those of lower socio-economic means
- evidence also suggests where libraries have trialled or implemented the removal of overdue fines, staff morale improves due to no longer needing to charge/negotiate these fines with members.

The City of Port Phillip Library Service has not charged overdue fines for nearly eight years. They have reported no discernible increase in the number of items long overdue and lost when fines were removed. They report no ongoing issues with compliance. Reminder notices continue to be issued to borrowers, and non-compliance is managed through temporary reductions to loan entitlements, and in extreme cases members are prevented from borrowing entirely.

In January 2019, Bayside Council removed all fines from its library collection and has seen only marginal increases in the numbers of items overdue.

Sydney Library service stopped charging overdue fees in July 2017 and report an increase in loans and happier customers and staff. The trend in library services in the United States is the same.

Discussion

As of May 2019, MLS has 456 members who are blocked from borrowing due to unpaid overdue fines (either overdue fines totalling in excess of \$20 or item/s overdue by 40 days). There are 283 members who have overdue fines or other fees outstanding, but haven't yet reached the threshold for 'blocking' and can therefore still borrow. While we have a total active membership of 2834 (active membership is defined as having borrowed within the last 12 months), we have 5147 users (used in last three years). We note that as a general rule, members with overdue fines are most likely to become inactive library members.

Currently, a daily fine of 30 cents attaches to any item returned after its due date. The MLS Policy allows library staff some discretion to waive overdue fines due to extenuating circumstances such as financial hardship or difficulties with access which might make it appropriate to waive or reduce fees and charges associated with overdue items. The MLS waived \$190 in overdue fines on library items in the last six months.

The table below shows the forecast budget and actual amounts received in overdue fines and for lost items in recent years:

FY	Budgeted amount	Amount received (to 28 May 2019)
2018/9	\$2500.00	\$1662.00
2017/8	\$3000.00	\$3170.00
2016/7	\$1300.00	\$3165.00
2015/6	\$1300.00	\$2937.00
2014/5	\$1300.00	\$1371.00

To give full effect to a decision to remove overdue fines, it is also recommended to waive all outstanding overdue fines. This will encourage members to return overdue items without consequence and remove current blocks on those members from borrowing. There are \$12,338 in unpaid fines associated with both active and inactive users. These include current, recent and old fines carried over for a number of years. We note our income from overdue fines has been roughly consistent over the last five years. Libraries have limited success in collecting long overdue fines; the library member simply does not return to use our service.

In addition to encouraging inactive library users to become active again, the waiver of outstanding overdue fines might also result in the return of books which are long-term overdue items.

It is important to note that if fines on all items were removed, the following would still apply:

- notification that an item is overdue will still be sent to the borrower
- if greater than 40 days overdue, notification will be sent to the borrower seeking compensation for the cost of the item
- the member is barred from further borrowing until the item is returned or compensation has been received.

The benefits that are likely to flow from a decision to remove fines on overdue items are consistent with the goals set out in the Council Plan 2017-2021: to promote inclusion, increase active library memberships and participation in library programs, and to encourage participation.

There is strong evidence to suggest that library fines undermine one of the core principles of public libraries - the provision of free and universal access to information. Fines can work against the Council Plan goal of increasing active library membership and library participation.

Library fines also create a disproportionate administrative burden on staff. The time staff spend on the negotiation of overdue fines with members is time that could be spent delivering programs, helping people use computers and enhancing the quality of our service. The removal of overdue fines would enable MLS to redefine its relationship with our community to more truly reflect our shared values.

On balance, Council officers recommend that, in light of the evidence and experience of other libraries, and the direction set in the Council Plan that Council endorse the removal of overdue fines on all items and all associated outstanding fines.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This matter is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our People Strategy 'to encourage activities and events that celebrate our vibrant, diverse and creative peoples and communities' and strategic indicator to 'increase active library members and participation in library and other Council programs'.

Relevant Legislation

Nil.

Financial Implications and Risk

The financial implications of removing fines and waiving outstanding fines are set out in the discussion above. The loss of income will be absorbed by the library service.

We note that while the removal of fines on all library items would be viewed favourably by many in the community, there may also be the contrary view that those who do not comply with library borrowing rules should be penalised through the imposition of fines, and that the removal of this income source, however minor, is not a financially responsible approach for Council to take.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

No community consultation was required in the creation of this report.

<u>RESOLUTION:</u> Cr E Lording / Cr J Ashe That Council:

- 1. removes overdue fines for items borrowed from the Murrindindi Library Service and from Council's Schedule of Fees and Charges as proposed for adoption in the Annual Budget 2019/2020
- 2. agrees to waive all outstanding overdue fines on library items.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

10. OUR PROSPERITY

10.1 GRANTS AND CONTRIBUTIONS POLICY

Attachment(s): Murrindindi Shire Council Grants and Contribution Policy (refer Attachment 10.1a)

Purpose

This report presents Council with a revised Murrindindi Shire Council Grants and Contributions Policy (Policy) for adoption (refer Attachment 10.1a). The Policy proposes an expanded scope to include the various forms of financial contributions provided to community groups and businesses by Council.

The Policy framework supports Council to make consistent, equitable decisions in regards to financially supporting community groups and businesses for activities that contribute to broader community wellbeing, visitation and economic development.

Officer Recommendation

That Council:

- 1. adopt the revised Grants and Contributions Policy as contained in Attachment 10.1a
- 2. rescind the Business and Tourism Innovation Grants Policy
- 3. rescind the Community Grants Policy
- 4. rescind the Waiving of Planning and Building Permit Fees for Community Groups Policy.

Background

In December 2018 Council adopted the new format Grants and Contributions Policy (Policy) which combined six different streams of funding and support for community, business and individuals.

It was acknowledged at the time that the process would need a short term period of review as the program is implemented. The Policy, associated guidelines, timeframes, systems and outcomes have all been monitored to ensure the desired outcomes are able to be met.

Feedback from applicants, Council officers and Councillors has identified a number of refinements that are required to ensure there is an appropriate application, assessment and communication framework in place.

Discussion

Since the new Grants and Contributions Program opened in March 2019, 23 applications have been made.

There have been eight applications to the Fee Reductions Stream. The feedback received from applicants is that the application is too complicated and asks for too much information for some types of reductions. To mitigate these issues, Council officers have:

- changed the 'Expected outcome' of the funding stream to remove the reference to lowering the financial hardship or risk for community groups – instead will consider the community benefit
- included an 'Expected outcome' that the reduction may support businesses or business groups undertaking activities for broad economic benefit.

To date, there have been no applications to the Community and Business Governance, Skills and Capacity building stream, however, Council officers recommend that 'assistance to develop funding applications' should be added as an eligible activity. This will assist the community and businesses to access the Grants and Contributions Program more broadly, and also assist those applicants looking to attract funding from other sources.

While there has been one application for sponsorship and three applications for projects and events under Community Grants, there are no recommended changes for this stream. Council officers will continue to monitor the effectiveness of this stream of funding and will identify any areas for improvement as they arise.

It is also recommended that applications from Councillors or their immediate family, and applications from Council Executive or Managers (or their immediate family), or other Council officers directly involved in the evaluation of applications be deemed ineligible. The Policy changes will also require that applicants be compliant with all Council and statutory laws and regulations.

Other, minor wording changes have been made throughout the document to ensure the Policy aligns with Council's expected outcomes.

Program Guidelines

A series of changes will be made to the program guidelines to enact the principles of the Policy.

Of most importance is the process for evaluation, which will change significantly. The first two rounds of this program have seen the Evaluation Panel (Mayor, Deputy Mayor, Director Community Engagement, Manager Development Services, Manager Community Wellbeing, Manager Community Assets, Coordinator Tourism & Events) reviewing all applications. This has been too onerous, and Council officers recommend the following key responsibility allocations:

- 1. Fee reductions to be assessed by the relevant Manager and referred to the relevant Director for approval – reported to Council for noting
- 2. Community Grants to be assessed by the Evaluation Panel (Deputy Mayor, Portfolio Councillor, Chief Executive Officer) and recommendations made to Council for a decision
- 3. Tourism Events (<\$5,000) application to be assessed by the Coordinator Tourism & Events and referred to the relevant Director for approval reported to Council for noting
- 4. Tourism Events (>\$5,000) application to be assessed by the Coordinator Tourism & Events and recommendations made to Council for decision
- 5. Business and Innovation applications to be assessed by Council officers and referred to a Councillor Briefing session – this may include a recommendation to refer the application to an industry expert, a specialist organisation, a government agency or other statutory body for assessment and feedback. In this circumstance, the application will return to a Councillor Briefing session before proceeding with Council officer recommendation to an Ordinary Council Meeting for decision.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This matter is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our People strategic objective 'to celebrate and encourage diverse, caring and connected communities'.

Relevant Legislation

There are no legislative considerations to this report.

Financial Implications and Risk

Funding across all streams represented in the Policy is within the existing Council budget.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

There has been no formal community consultation to date with respect to the development of this Policy.

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr R Bowles That Council:

- 1. adopt the revised Grants and Contributions Policy as contained in Attachment 10.1a
- 2. rescind the Business and Tourism Innovation Grants Policy
- 3. rescind the Community Grants Policy
- 4. rescind the Waiving of Planning and Building Permit Fees for Community Groups Policy.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

<u>11.</u> <u>OUR PROMISE</u>

11.1 CUSTOMER SERVICE POLICY

Attachment(s): Customer Service Policy (refer Attachment 11.1)

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to introduce a draft Customer Service Policy (Policy) for proposed adoption by Council at its June 2019 Ordinary Meeting. The Policy is a statement of Council's commitment to providing great customer service to its community.

This report highlights key features of the draft Policy and provides background about its development and its link to the organisation-wide 'Customer First' Project.

Officer Recommendation

That Council adopt the revised Customer Service Policy as contained in Attachment 11.1.

Background

This draft Policy replaces an existing policy and aims to consolidate work underway to deliver Council's commitment to improve the services we provide to customers made in the Council Plan 2017-2021.

The Policy complements the work underway within the Customer First Project, aimed at ensuring Council's systems, processes and culture are aligned with best practice customer service principles.

In November 2017, Council conducted its first all-staff customer service training. At this session, staff worked through a facilitated process to arrive at a draft statement of Values and Behaviours. This was further refined through consultation with staff through early 2018 and endorsed by the Leadership Team in mid-2018. This process, together with best practice customer service principles obtained from a variety of sources, formed the basis for the new Policy.

The central elements of the draft Policy, along with broader training on customer service and customer feedback, formed part of the second all-staff customer service training days held in May 2019.

Discussion

The Policy sets out clear expectations for staff in the delivery of Council's customer service. It aims to strengthen the objectives of the organisation-wide Customer First Project, by setting firm standards of behaviour in our customer interactions. The Policy defines the elements of 'great' customer service and aligns these with our organisational values of Accountability, Empathy, Integrity and Professionalism. In addition, the draft Policy:

- provides clarity to staff about the customer service standards they must deliver and articulates the importance of various components of 'great' customer service, including:
 - the accurate capture of customer requests in an approved database
 - the importance of ongoing communication with customers, including if a request is delayed or requires input from another agency
 - o the need to ensure requests are finalised and the customer is kept informed
- details our commitment to a range of behaviours and actions which support great customer service
- provides clarity about the systems and processes which are used to support great customer service within Council
- alerts staff to the need to measure and report on performance against standards and indicators, including so that we can achieve greater transparency
- sets out expectations of staff in their treatment of complaints and other feedback, including by actively encouraging feedback as an opportunity to improve our services
- reflects our expectations for customer behaviour and gives staff direction about how they can manage difficult or dangerous customers.

The operational implementation of this Policy is supported by an organisational Customer Service Charter which outlines our key performance indicators and customer service targets. It is anticipated that these indicators and targets may change over time to reflect improved response and turnaround times for the customer services we provide, as the Customer First Project continues to roll out.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

The Policy is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Promise strategy 'to commit to developing a stronger customer-focussed culture that makes us easier to deal with' and 'ensure our culture, systems and technologies encourage and enable innovation in our business practices and service delivery'.

Relevant Legislation

The Local Government Act 1989.

Financial Implications and Risk

While there are no financial implications relating to principles outlined in this Policy, future activities and enhancements to customer service delivery would be subject to the usual project and budget planning processes.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

Before creating this Policy, consultation took place with private sector organisations, other Councils and with a customer service bench-marking company.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr E Lording That Council adopt the revised Customer Service Policy as contained in Attachment 11.1.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

11.2 PROCUREMENT POLICY ANNUAL REVIEW 2019

Attachment(s): Procurement Policy June 2019 (refer Attachment 11.2)

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to seek Council's endorsement of the revised Procurement Policy which requires annual review in accordance with Section 186A (7) of the *Local Government Act 1989* (the *Act*).

Officer Recommendation

That Council adopts the revised Procurement Policy as contained in Attachment 11.2.

Background

Council's Procurement Policy (Policy) was last reviewed and adopted in June 2018. It is a requirement under Section 186A of the *Act* hat a Council must review the current procurement policy at least once every financial year.

Regular review of the Policy encourages continuous improvement so that Council's ways of doing business and procurement processes represent best practice.

Discussion

The Policy was extensively reviewed in May 2017, which brought the Policy in line with industry standards. The Policy has been successfully implemented and appears to be relatively well understood by the wider business community that seeks to engage with Council for the provision of goods or services.

There has not been any significant legislative or best practice changes to procurement since the comprehensive review was undertaken, and therefore the 2019 review has not resulted in significant change to the Policy. Some minor wording/grammatical changes have been made to improve clarity, with no alterations to Policy intent.

While Council is meeting its statutory requirement to review the Policy annually, it is proposed that a more comprehensive review be undertaken in the 2019/20 year. The majority of Council policies are reviewed every three years in line with best practice to ensure that policies meet industry standards and that they align with Council's strategic objectives.

This review will further focus on the following areas:

- environmental sustainability outcomes
- recognising local content
- use of social procurement principles.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This item is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Promise strategic objective to 'ensure the range of services we provide and the way we provide them are best aligned with community priorities and Council's resources'.

Relevant Legislation

Review of the Policy is required under Section 186A of the *Act* which requires local councils to have a procurement policy and to review it each financial year. Once Council approves a procurement policy it must comply with the Policy and make it publicly available.

Financial Implications and Risk

Council's Policy sets procedural controls to protect against financial, probity, fraud and corruption risk whilst also ensuring that resources are used efficiently and the removal of unnecessary barriers or costs of doing business with Council.

Conflict of Interest

There were no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

Community consultation has not been required for the purpose of this statutory review of the Policy which primarily has assessed compliance with the *Act*. Upon approval, the revised procurement policy will become a publically available document available at Council offices and on Council's website. It is possible that community consultation may be incorporated into a comprehensive review of the Policy proposed for 2019/20.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr J Ashe

That Council adopts the revised Procurement Policy as contained in Attachment 11.2.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

11.3 BORROWINGS POLICY

Attachment(s): Borrowings Policy (refer Attachment 11.3)

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to seek Council's endorsement of the revised Borrowings Policy (Policy), which ensures that Council borrowings are well managed, and in accordance with legislative requirements.

Officer Recommendation

That Council adopt the revised Borrowings Policy as contained in Attachment 11.3.

Background

Following a recommendation from Council's Audit Advisory Committee in 2014 a Policy was adopted by Council to ensure that Council's borrowings are appropriately managed. The Policy was last updated in 2017 and is now due for review.

Discussion

Although there is not a statutory requirement for Council to have a borrowings policy, it is recognised as best practice should Council have a need to borrow funds.

The following are the proposed changes to the Policy from the previous version:

- Purpose section updated:
 - o now includes reference to the Local Government Act 1989

- Scope has been simplified:
 - applies to Council and Council employees who make decisions regarding borrowings
- Policy section updated:
 - o added objectives
 - added legislative framework
 - o added borrowings ratios and limits:
 - added target ratio for borrowings
 - o added a sub-section on borrowing decisions.

This Policy will provide Council officers with better direction regarding Council's requirements for borrowings as well as provide a greater level of oversight should Council procure any debt.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This report is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Promise strategy to 'maintain Council's financial sustainability through sound financial and asset management'.

Relevant Legislation

The Local Government Act 1989 (the Act) provides councils with the power to borrow.

Section 144(1) of the *Act* states 'Subject to the principles of sound financial management, a council may borrow money to enable the council to perform the functions and exercise the power conferred on the council under this *Act* or any other Act'.

Sections 145 to 150 of the *Act* further specify the circumstances in which the power to borrow may be exercised, securities to be used for Local Government borrowings, and how the borrowings should be disclosed.

Financial Implications and Risk

Council's borrowing strategy had historically acknowledged that a prudent level of debt will not exceed \$500,000 in new borrowings per annum. The draft Budget for 2019/20 proposes that for the second year in a row Council will not be undertaking to borrow funds, due to its strong financial position and cash holdings. This will result in Council's overall debt level being extinguished during the life of the current Strategic Resource Plan.

Conflict of Interest

There were no declared conflicts of the interest by Council officers in the preparation of this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

This Policy was developed in consultation with Council's Audit and Risk Advisory Committee, to ensure that the Policy provides clear direction to Council officers regarding borrowing obligations and responsibilities, and to ensure compliance with Council's legislative obligations.

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr M Rae That Council adopt the revised Borrowings Policy as contained in Attachment 11.3.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

11.4 2019/20 ANNUAL BUDGET AND STRATEGIC RESOURCE PLAN ADOPTION

Attachment(s): 2019/20 Annual Budget (refer Attachment 11.4a) Summary of Budget Submissions (refer Attachment 11.4b) Strategic Resource Plan 2019/20 Review (refer Attachment 11.4c)

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to present the 2019/20 Annual Budget and Strategic Resource Plan for adoption by Council.

Officer Recommendation

That Council:

- having heard and considered public submissions on the draft 2019/20 Annual Budget, accept the Council officer recommendation for each submission outlined in Attachment 11.4b
- 2. notify submitters of Council's decision noting that responses will be issued by the Manager Business Services
- 3. adopt the 2019/20 Annual Budget (Attachment 11.4a) and Strategic Resource Plan (Attachment 11.4c) noting the following changes to the exhibited draft Annual Budget:
 - a. increase of \$153,766 made to the level of funding to be received from the Victorian Grants Commission relating to Financial Assistance Grants for 2019/20 (noting, the 2018/19 forecast result has increased by \$2.39 million following confirmation that 50% of the 2019/20 allocation will be paid in 2018/19)
 - b. increase of \$2.27 million to Capital Works Roads Program as a result of the successful application for funding under the Fixing Country Roads (FCR) program. This is funded by \$1.51 million in grants (40% to be received in 2018/19) and a Council contribution of \$755,900 as approved at the 12 June 2019 Special Council Meeting
 - c. increase of \$200,000 to the Capital Works Buildings Program for energy efficiency upgrades. Fifty percent of this cost will be funded externally from Sustainability Victoria's Local Government Energy Saver Program
 - d. increase of \$28,000 to the Capital Works Buildings Program to install bi-folding doors at Terip Terip Community Centre
 - e. increase of \$2,500 to the Yea Recreation Reserve change rooms Capital Works Project to include provision for a drinking fountain
 - f. rates in the dollar and property valuation figures have been updated following the receipt of the final revaluation data from the Valuer-General Victoria
- 4. authorise the Chief Executive Officer to give public notice of this decision to adopt the Budget, in accordance with section 130(2) of the *Local Government Act 1989* (the *Act*)
- 5. note that a copy of the adopted 2019/20 Budget be submitted to the Minister for Local Government and copies made available for inspection by the public in accordance with Sections 130(4) and 130(9) of the *Act*
- 6. confirm the differential rates, municipal charge and waste service charges as detailed in the 2019/20 Budget per Attachment 11.4a
- 7. authorise the rates officers of Council to levy and recover the differential rates so declared in accordance with the *Act*
- 8. note the due dates for rate instalments will be as follows:
 - a. Instalment 1: 30 September 2019
 - b. Instalment 2: 30 November 2019

- c. Instalment 3: 28 February 2020
- d. Instalment 4: 31 May 2020.

Background

At the 24 April 2019 Ordinary Council Meeting, Council endorsed the draft 2019/20 Annual Budget for the purposes of public exhibition in accordance with Sections 129 and 223 of the *Local Government Act 1989* (the *Act*).

Budget documents were made available at Council offices and on Council's website and submissions were sought from the public. The four-week public exhibition and submission process commenced on 1 May 2019 and was advertised in the relevant newspapers. The submission period closed on 31 May 2019.

An acknowledgement was sent to each submitter, confirming receipt of their submission and informing them of the opportunity to attend the Special Meeting of Council on the 12 June 2019 to speak to their submission if they wished. Six people spoke to their submissions at the Special Meeting.

Discussion

The 2019/20 Annual Budget (the Budget) details the resource requirements and project priorities that are in accordance with the key strategic objectives that have been set in the Council Plan 2017-2021.

The Budget has been prepared on the principles of responsible financial management to achieve an operating result that ensures and maintains long term financial sustainability.

Whilst always difficult to raise revenue, especially in times of economic uncertainty, the rate increase proposed is in line with the rate cap set by the State Government and provides for a continued mix of responsible operating and capital budget expenditures.

The Budget has been developed based on the following principles:

- to limit rate increases to an average of 2.5%. This is in line with the average rate increase allowable under the State Government's Fair Go Rates System for 2019/20
- to deliver a modest budget surplus i.e. a budget where forecast revenue exceeds forecast expenditure
- to take on no new debt this will reduce existing debt levels to under \$480,000 by 30 June 2020 and represents the lowest level of absolute debt Council has held in more than a decade
- to limit increases to non-statutory fees and charges to no more than 2%.

The Budget identifies that Council will spend \$46.35 million to deliver services and improve infrastructure. This includes a \$10.7 million Capital Works Program. Council's cash flows will remain strong with a projected cash increase of \$668,000 over the year.

Highlights of the Capital Works Program include:

- \$4.95 million allocated to sealed and unsealed roads, traffic treatments and kerb and channel works
- \$2.60 million for works to further develop landfill sites
- \$200,000 allocated to bridge and culvert renewal
- \$105,000 on drainage works

- \$328,000 on pathway improvements, including \$57,500 towards improvements to disability access in urban areas of Yea
- \$361,000 allocated for recreational facilities, including \$216,000 allocated for female friendly change facilities at the Yea Recreation Reserve and \$22,000 for perimeter fencing at the Kinglake Memorial Reserve
- \$551,000 for works on Council owned buildings and facilities including \$70,000 to upgrade the kitchen and restore external columns at the Alexandra Shire Hall
- \$128,000 for works at the Yea Saleyards and \$50,000 for improved floor covering for a range of public toilets
- \$30,000 to develop a concept design for the Kinglake West-Pheasant Creek streetscape
- \$30,000 for Recreational Vehicle (RV) Friendly Town preliminary works (including signage and line marking for long vehicles).

Other initiatives funded in the Budget include:

- \$230,000 to continue the Grants and Contributions Program
- \$247,000 of external grant funding to advance local community planning trials across the Shire
- \$250,000 to implement strategies that have been developed to better plan for service delivery and improve outcomes for the community. These strategies include:
 - o Tourism and Events Strategy
 - Communications Strategy
 - Recreation and Open Space Strategy
- \$105,000 for environmental initiatives including continuing the roadside weed and pest control program, significant revegetation works, and an environmental forum to further engage the community in solutions to the environmental issues
- \$95,000 to continue the Customer First project focusing on enhancing Council's systems and processes to improve customer services.

Whilst the draft Budget was on public exhibition, Council received notification that it was successful in being awarded funding of \$1.52 million for four projects though the Regional Roads Victoria Fixing County Roads Program. As part of the funding agreement, Council will be contributing an additional \$755,900 towards these projects. The successful projects were:

- High Street Yea safety improvement works
- Rubicon Road route improvements
- King Parrott Creek Road improvement works
- Back Eildon Road improvement works.

Council received confirmation that 40% of this funding will be received in 2018/19 with the balance received in 2019/20.

Council also received confirmation of an increase in Victorian Grants Commission Financial Assistance Grant of \$150,766 above the exhibited draft Budget estimate and \$100,000 in funding for energy efficiency upgrades under the Sustainability Victoria's Local Government Energy Saver Program.

As a result of these grants, the 2019/20 budgeted surplus in the Income Statement has increased from \$5,000 to \$1,162 million. This is because this statement recognises the receipt of the capital

grants, but not the associated expenditure. The expenditure is captured in the Statement of Capital Works which has been adjusted to reflect the additional projects.

In April 2019, Council made the decision to transition out of being a direct provider of State and Federal Government funded aged and disability services. It is anticipated that this transition to other provider/s will occur during 2019/20 financial year, however the precise timing is subject to State and Federal Government considerations. Therefore, the draft Budget maintains an annual funding allocation for these services in the budget, recognising that any savings realised during the year will support transition arrangements.

Public Submissions

Six submissions were received in relation to the draft Budget. All submissions were presented for Council's consideration at the Special Meeting of Council on 12 June 2019. A summary of the submissions received and associated officer recommendations is attached to this report (refer Attachment 11.4b).

All proposed changes in resources required to accommodate the supported submissions are included in the Council officer recommendation to Council in this report.

Strategic Resource Plan Review

In considering the proposed final budget for 2019/20, the Strategic Resource Plan (SRP) and long term financial plan have been adjusted to accommodate the changes made for the next financial year.

Key financial assumptions that underpin the longer term financial plan are as follows:

- operating within a rate cap of 2.25% annual rate increases, which is forecast to remain constant over the life of the SRP. The Minister for Local Government sets the rate cap annually and the SRP will be modified based on annual determinations
- fees and charges revenue to increase by 2.25% per annum
- no new borrowings to be undertaken by Council in the next 10 years
- cost of goods and services to increase by 2.5% per annum
- revenue received from grants (for either capital or operating purposes) only included where the source of funds is certain, or reasonably assumed to continue over the life of the plan (e.g. Roads to Recovery or Financial Assistance Grants)
- Council's permanent staffing establishment is forecast to remain relatively stable over the life of the SRP
- a strong focus maintained on balancing Council's asset renewal gap over the life of the SRP.

It is noted that on current assumptions, renewal expenditure will not fully meet renewal requirements over the next 10 years, which will see the infrastructure renewal gap increase. Council is continuing to invest in improved strategic asset management systems and planning, and this combined with enhanced strategic procurement is expected to slow growth in the renewal gap over the ten-year life of the plan.

Council reviews the SRP on an annual basis and therefore improvements to the management of Council's asset renewal requirements will involve a continual review of the current assumptions. This annual review also enables Council to consider other priorities and initiatives in the context of Council's financial position.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

The adoption of the Budget allocates the necessary resource to deliver the initiatives and objectives detailed in the Council Plan 2017-2021 for the upcoming financial year which is

consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 strategy under Our Promise to 'maintain Council's financial sustainability through sound financial and asset management'.

Relevant Legislation

The adoption of the Budget is a statutory requirement of the *Local Government Act 1989* and sets the financial framework in which Council will operate for the 2019/20 financial year.

Financial Implications and Risk

Adoption of the Budget and the annual review of the Strategic Resource Plan is an essential part of effective corporate governance and has been prepared to ensure any long term financial risks to Council are minimised.

Conflict of Interest

There are no declared conflicts of interest by Council officers in relation to this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

The draft Budget was made available on Council's website and offices from 1 May 2019 and advertised for public exhibition in a range of publications (see table below), with written submissions sought by 12 pm on 31 May 2019.

Medium	Published Date
Newspapers:	
Alexandra Standard	1 May 2019
Yea Chronicle	1 May 2019
Marysville Triangle	3 May 2019
Local Paper	8 May 2019
Digital:	
Council website – www.murrindindi.vic.gov.au	1 May 2019
Council Facebook page	1 May 2019
Hard copies at Council offices:	
Alexandra, Kinglake, Yea and also Eildon Resource	1 May 2019
Centre and Marysville Visitor Information Centre	

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr E Lording That Council:

- 1. having heard and considered public submissions on the draft 2019/20 Annual Budget, accept the Council officer recommendation for each submission outlined in Attachment 11.4b
- 2. notify submitters of Council's decision noting that responses will be issued by the Manager Business Services
- 3. adopt the 2019/20 Annual Budget (Attachment 11.4a) and Strategic Resource Plan (Attachment 11.4c) noting the following changes to the exhibited draft Annual Budget:
 - a. increase of \$153,766 made to the level of funding to be received from the Victorian Grants Commission relating to Financial Assistance Grants for 2019/20 (noting, the 2018/19 forecast result has increased by \$2.39 million following confirmation that 50% of the 2019/20 allocation will be paid in 2018/19)
 - b. increase of \$2.27 million to Capital Works Roads Program as a result of the successful application for funding under the Fixing Country Roads (FCR) program. This is funded by \$1.51 million in grants (40% to be received in 2018/19) and a Council contribution of \$755,900 as approved at the 12 June 2019 Special Council Meeting

- c. increase of \$200,000 to the Capital Works Buildings Program for energy efficiency upgrades. Fifty percent of this cost will be funded externally from Sustainability Victoria's Local Government Energy Saver Program
- d. increase of \$28,000 to the Capital Works Buildings Program to install bi-folding doors at Terip Terip Community Centre
- e. increase of \$2,500 to the Yea Recreation Reserve change rooms Capital Works Project to include provision for a drinking fountain
- f. rates in the dollar and property valuation figures have been updated following the receipt of the final revaluation data from the Valuer-General Victoria
- 4. authorise the Chief Executive Officer to give public notice of this decision to adopt the Budget, in accordance with section 130(2) of the *Local Government Act 1989* (the *Act*)
- 5. note that a copy of the adopted 2019/20 Budget be submitted to the Minister for Local Government and copies made available for inspection by the public in accordance with Sections 130(4) and 130(9) of the *Act*
- 6. confirm the differential rates, municipal charge and waste service charges as detailed in the 2019/20 Budget per Attachment 11.4a
- 7. authorise the rates officers of Council to levy and recover the differential rates so declared in accordance with the *Act*
- 8. note the due dates for rate instalments will be as follows:
 - a. Instalment 1: 30 September 2019
 - b. Instalment 2: 30 November 2019
 - c. Instalment 3: 28 February 2020
 - d. Instalment 4: 31 May 2020.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

11.5 RUBICON OUTDOOR CENTRE SCHOOL COUNCIL APPOINTMENT

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to seek Council's endorsement of the appointment of Councillor Charlotte Bisset to the Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council.

Officer Recommendation

That Councillor Charlotte Bisset be appointed as the Murrindindi Shire Council representative on the Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council.

Background

Rubicon Outdoor Centre School is a residential outdoor education school operated by the Department of Education and Training. Rubicon has two campuses, the Thornton Campus, in the Rubicon Valley and the Nayook Campus which is approximately 100 kilometres east of Melbourne.

The Rubicon Outdoor Centre School is governed by a School Council. The School Council has requested that Murrindindi Shire Council appoint a representative to the School Council.

Councillors are often requested or required to represent Council (as delegate) on committees or boards formed by other organisations and these are subject to formal Council approval processes.

Discussion

Annually over 3000 state school students attend the Rubicon Outdoor Centre School for programs, with the majority of programs being five days. Students come from across Victoria but most are drawn from metropolitan Melbourne. Programs may be residential and based at either of the school's campuses with both day and overnight trips to adjoining natural environments. The school also uses base camp and journey based delivery models, which can be taken through bush, lake or river environments.

Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council's functions are primarily based around setting and monitoring the school's direction. The School Council membership currently includes:

- Victorian Outdoor Education nominee
- Parks Victoria nominee
- Regional Director of Department of Education and Training
- Principals Association nominee
- Alexandra Traders and Tourism nominee
- six community representatives
- three Department of Education and Training employees.

The School Council has indicated that it is amending its constitution to reflect having a representative from each municipality as part of the membership.

This representation will be for a 12-month period and will form part of the Councillor Committee Representation annual review in the future.

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies

This matter is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Promise strategic objective 'we will all work in collaboration with our communities to deliver the best possible outcomes in all that we do'.

Relevant Legislation

The Local Government Act 1989

Financial Implications and Risk

There are no financial or budget implications associated with this report.

Conflict of Interest

There are no conflicts of interest declared by Council officers in the creation of this report.

Community and Stakeholder Consultation

The Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council has requested that Council nominate a Murrindindi Shire Council representative to the School Council.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr J Ashe That Councillor Charlotte Bisset be appointed as the Murrindindi Shire Council representative on the Rubicon Outdoor Centre School Council.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

12. NOTICES OF MOTIONS

Nil.

13. MATTERS DEFERRED FROM PREVIOUS MEETING

Nil.

14. URGENT BUSINESS

Nil.

15. COUNCILLOR REPORTS

15.1 CR MARGARET RAE

Matters are proceeding in an orderly fashion with the Aged and Disability Services area and are currently awaiting the formal response from Government in response to the recommendation made. In the meantime, services are being provided as usual and some forward transitional planning is taking place.

In the Planning unit things have been a little quieter than usual with some internal changes and adjustments taking place. So I thought I would take this opportunity as the financial year comes to a close to provide some broad brush information on the year's activities, albeit not yet quite complete. However, they provide some interesting information (figures are for July 2018 to May 2019) that is worth reflecting on:

- planning permits issued under delegation 228
- planning permits issued by Council 10
- VicSmart permits issued 45 (19.7%)

This is the process introduced by the State Government to assist in 'fast tracking' more straightforward applications (particularly applicable in the metropolitan area) but it is becoming more frequent here as well, steadily increasing since introduction:

- o **2016/17 4%**
- o **2017/18 14.5%**
- o **2018/19 19.7%**
- average days to determine permits 45, with 77% of permits determined within 60 days.

The number of permits issued is comparable to last year, as is the value of the proposed works, currently at approximately \$66 million (last year \$68 million) with one month to go. This compares with the previous two years of \$36 million and \$29 million respectively. It is particularly pleasing to see the increasing level of investment taking place across our Shire.

- New planning permit applications 279
 - New applications are currently a little less than last year (a particularly strong year with 312 applications) but consistently increasing:
 - o **2015/16 217**
 - o **2016/17 249**
- VicSmart applications 43 (15.4%):
 - o **2016/17 5%**
 - o **2017/18 11%**
 - o **2018/19 15%**

• VCAT determinations - nil.

Council Resolutions

Over the year Council has considered some 23 matters in relation to planning (excluding tonight):

- 10 permits issued
- four refused
- one deferred
- two development plans approved
- in addition, Council considered and resolved the appropriate action for six amendments to the Planning Scheme:
 - o Infrastructure Design Manual amendment
 - o four-year review
 - o Gaming Policy C62 amendment
 - o C63 amendment making various corrections to the scheme
 - C65 Local Planning Policy Framework review
 - Alexandra Waste Facilities C67 amendment.

Altogether over this past year alone, there have been 15 changes to the Victoria Planning Provisions following on from another 14 in the previous year. Most are initiated by State Government and then become part of our planning scheme. Keeping abreast of these is extremely challenging for planners and I would like to recognise our Council officers for the way they manage this workload and for their commitment. As can be seen from this very brief list of activities, planning continues to be a very dynamic and challenging area.

15.2 CR JACKIE ASHE

The Great Victorian Rail Trail (GVRT) workshop was held in Yea and Alexandra by North East Cycle Tourism over the past few weeks. The GVRT strategic review process has commenced with stakeholder sessions – in partnership with Mansfield Shire Council, Strathbogie Shire Council, Mitchell Shire Council and Tourism North East.

The draft Tourism and Events Strategy has been out for input and comment. I'd like to thank all of the people who have written in, talked to us, emailed etc., there has been some fantastic feedback and ideas come forward. Looking forward to the strategy coming together.

Well done to the Council officers for securing the Boating & Fishing Show for Eildon in October 2019.

I would like to congratulate the Murrindindi Business Awards nominees, finalists, winners, event organisers Murrindindi Inc. and sponsors for making such a great evening. What a great community we live and work in! Winners in each category are:

- Status Luxury Houseboats (Yay Mandy and John go Eildon!)
- Alexandra Dental Clinic
- KESelec Kinglake Electrical Services
- Grant Street Grocer
- Country Tech Leading Appliances
- Bradley Irvine young business person of the year.

We are developing the new look Visitor Guide with feedback and advice from all the Local Business Tourism Associations (LBTA).

- 41 -

We attended the Good Food and Wine show to highlight our offerings – in partnership with Goulburn River Valley Tourism (GRVT) and other councils.

We continue to work on the upcoming Victoria Tourism Industry Council (VTIC) Visitor Information Summit, currently focusing on finalising the study tour details.

Social media update for Discover Dindi:

- Facebook 15, 500 page likes (increased by 870 in the last 28 days)
- Instagram 2,171 followers.

15.3 CR ERIC LORDING

The State Government has banned electronic waste (e-waste) going into landfill, with the ban commencing 1 July 2019. This means anything with a plug or a battery must be properly recycled and cannot be put in your household bins. E-waste can be recycled at Yea, Alexandra and Kinglake Resource Recovery Centres (RRC). Construction has commenced on new sheds at Alexandra and Kinglake RRCs to deal with the increased e-waste. More information is available at the RRCs and Council's service centres.

Investigations on closed landfills in Yea and Flowerdale have commenced. Groundwater bores are being drilled to better assess the impact of the old landfills and help to determine the level of rehabilitation required.

Due to illegal dumping and break-ins occurring at Council's RRCs and common waste collection points, high performance security cameras are being installed. This is an important step to ensure rate payers do not have to pay for the illegal actions of a few.

I attended the Central Ranges Local Learning and Employment Network (CRLLEN) Board meeting yesterday. It was interesting in that they were doing similar work to what I am doing in youth development with the Defence Department. They are an impressive organisation.

Our Chief Executive Officer, Craig Lloyd, and I attended a planning session with Regional Roads Victoria (RRV, earlier this week (previously known as VicRoads). We were impressed with the openness and willingness to receive our input and criticisms. RRV has conducted five of these meetings state wide, it is a great start for a new organisation. We hope that this conciliatory approach continues.

15.4 CR CHARLOTTE BISSET

No report this month.

15.5 CR REBECCA BOWLES

There has been new interpretive signage installed on some of our roadsides of high environmental value.

Council officers are finalising the details of a Local Government Energy Saver Program grant for energy efficiency works on Council buildings to improve our energy efficiency and reduce greenhouse gas emissions. This is a State Government program administered by Sustainability Victoria.

The State and Federal Governments are reviewing the Victorian Regional Forest Agreements which are 20 year agreements that provide the framework for how our forests are managed. In recent weeks consultation sessions have been held in Marysville and Alexandra and it was good that members of our community were taking the opportunity to have their say.

- 42 -

A fantastic day was had by three Landcare groups doing a planting at the Yea Butter Factory on 22 June 2019. Murrindindi's very first intrepid Landcare group had their inaugural outing and were joined by the Strath Creek Landcare group and the Yea River Catchment, and a wonderful lunch was provided by Jo and Russ Miller. In the afternoon we adjourned to the Sichlau's paddock for a fantastic bonfire with music, barbeque and great conversations.

I am very excited as the Ward Councillor to announce the Yea Streetscape Safety Upgrade project. It has been a long time coming but we have got there. A significant amount of money is being invested by the State Government with Council contributing the remaining. There will be an all-day drop in session at the Yea Library on 11 July. People can log onto to the Council website and Council officers will be holding consultation sessions with traders. Please come and have a chat with the Council officers on this long awaited and some would say overdue project.

15.6 CR LEIGH DUNSCOMBE

Tonight we have adopted the 2019/20 Annual Budget and Strategic Resource Plan and I am really pleased that once again the budget demonstrates that we will deliver a surplus and continue to pay down debt throughout the 2019/20 financial year.

There are many highlights in this budget:

- surplus of \$1.162 million
- Capital Works Program in excess of \$10 million
- strong Council cash flows
- many other initiatives to better inform and manage the business of Council and advance the aspirations and safety of our communities.

I won't go into all the details here, they are all included in the budget documents and I encourage everyone to have a read.

As a group of Councillors we have placed a high priority on community consultation and this year's budget has been prepared with that in mind. We have tried to make it easier for our communities to have input into the budget and frame it with those suggestions in mind. Through that consultation we received some fantastic budget submissions, no less than 50 and none more encouraging than the one we received from the students of the Yea Primary School for a drinking fountain at the Yea Recreation Reserve. Apart from being a great idea we were all in awe of the proactive and professional manner in which these students identified a need, fundraised, collaborated and acted to bring it to fruition. It was a fantastic demonstration of democracy in action and I congratulate all the parents, teachers, Council officers and the community for assisting them in their endeavour.

<u>Planning Scheme Amendment Request – 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central</u> (Kinglake Cemetery Proposal)

Regarding this agenda item at tonight's meeting, I would like to make it absolutely and unambiguously clear that I do not oppose a cemetery for the Kinglake Ranges and I am abundantly aware and accept that there is a community consensus about the desire and the need for a facility of this type. I am also aware that a plot of land has been set aside for this purpose for 100 or so years and I am fully aware of the difficulties and obstacles associated with the use of that particular plot of land for this purpose. That plot of land however is not the subject of this proposal.

My opposition is not about the establishment of a cemetery, nor the potential for a crematorium for that matter, I do not necessarily even object to the proposed new location. My opposition rests wholly and solely with the level of community consultation, the lack of detail and the reluctance of the committee to engage with the community in an open and honest manner or indeed to consider alternative ideas.

In fact, this proposal isn't even about the establishment of a cemetery. It's about removing the communities right to have a say, to make an informed decision or even to object. It's about declaring a pristine piece of public land in the Frank Thompson reserve precinct as suitable for nothing else but a cemetery/crematorium in perpetuity and removing the communities right to object, consider alternative uses or even be consulted. The proponents wouldn't even be required to submit design plans for community perusal or comment, and that is the crux of this proposal and the source of my opposition. The only impediment to the establishment of a cemetery on this site right now is the requirement to apply for a permit, submit design plans for public display and for Council to consider the submissions i.e. informed community consultation.

Now I am aware there have been many letters of support (for a cemetery) submitted tonight, I get that and I support the establishment of a cemetery in Kinglake as well. What I don't accept is that these letters of support have been submitted with adequate knowledge or understanding of the proposal that is before us tonight. I know they have been written without proper consideration of the design plans - because they are not available. I know that many do not realise the significance of the proposed site and its proximity to Frank Thompson Reserve. I know that many have not considered the potential for the establishment of a crematorium in the future (although I accept that this is highly unlikely). I know that many have not considered alternative sites, because none have been offered and I know that many people object who have not and will not be given the opportunity to be heard if this current proposal were to go ahead.

We rejected this proposal the last time it came before us with a clear message to the committee about our desire for proper open and honest community consultation. I live in Kinglake and I have seen none. No community meetings or forums, no notices on community websites or Facebook pages, no public notices in print media or on radio. I didn't even see a survey in any shops or public locations. A questionable committee selection process and some generic letters of support for a cemetery based on incomplete and obscure questions does not - in my mind - qualify as open and honest community consultation, and as such I cannot in all good conscience support this proposal.

15.7 CR SANDICE MCAULAY – MAYORAL REPORT

The Chief Executive Officer (CEO), Craig Lloyd, and I have had a number of opportunities for advocacy this last month. We met with Minister Pulford to raise concerns around road safety issues in the Murrindindi shire. We were also fortunate to meet with Mary-Anne Thomas and Justin Burney to discuss the Regional Tourism review and highlight a number of issues within the Shire. We also attended the National General Assembly of Local Government in Canberra last week where our motion relating to the timing of the Financial Assistance Grant was successful. I am sure the CEO will expand on these meetings in his report or in his future reports.

It was good to see the ongoing great attendance at both Toolangi and Marysville's and Community Planning Nights and Dinner. Both communities indicated their passion and enthusiasm for projects in their communities and many braved the cold evenings to attend the meetings and highlight ideas to help prioritise future planning in their respective towns. All three initial planning meetings (Yea, Toolangi and Marysville) have been hugely successful and I wish the communities all the best in progressing their many awesome ideas. Please note it is not too late if you want to be involved in any of these projects going forward.

Highlights of this last month include attending the Buxton Country Fire Authority (CFA) new truck hand over celebration as well as the Buxton Primary School's viewing of the movie Charlie as part of their Reconciliation Week activities.

Of course, my report would not be complete without recognising the highly successful Alexandra Truck Ute & Rod Show. Congratulations again to the organisers of this annual event, which is such a highlight in the Murrindindi shire calendar.

Last night I had the great pleasure of attending the 2019 FoodWorks Business Awards Gala evening in Yea. Council has been very proud to be working with Murrindindi Inc. to access funding from State Government to support this event. Congratulations to all of the many businesses who put their hand up to highlight their businesses. I would like to take this opportunity to acknowledge the 1729 businesses in our Shire, many of whom employ between one and 20 employees. These businesses enable many residents to work and live in our beautiful Shire and contribute to the ongoing economy.

Finally, I would like to thank the many staff who continue to work tirelessly – particularly at this time to the Finance Department. You have successfully managed to develop a budget based on a modest budget surplus while taking on no new debt and to limit the increases to non-statutory fees and charges to no more that 2% and yet have a very active Capital Works Program as well as maintain many other initiatives and programs. Thankyou!

<u>16.</u> <u>CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER REPORT</u>

The purpose of this report is to provide Councillors and the community with a high level overview of the key actions currently being undertaken by Council officers. It is not intended as an exhaustive list of actions being undertaken. Due to the timing of Council meetings this report covers a period from mid-May to mid-June.

Eildon Boat & Fishing Show

It was so exciting to attend the Melbourne Boat Show with the Mayor where it was announced that we will be hosting the Boat & Fishing Show in Eildon for October.

This is a major event for our Shire and Council is a major sponsor, being consistent with Councils desire to attract significant and notable events to our Shire.

This event takes the concept of the Melbourne Boat Show a step further with the opportunity to trial boats on Lake Eildon and includes houseboats which is not possible in Melbourne.

Thousands of visitors are expected and a high profile advertising campaign will be launched shortly by Boating Industry Association Victoria.

We will shortly commence engagement with our community, and particularly Eildon businesses to see how we can work together to get the most out of this event for our community.

Yea Streetscape

As mentioned in budget discussions earlier and in response to community concerns, Council has begun work on a plan to improve pedestrian and vehicle safety on High Street Yea. Thanks to support from Victorian Government's Fixing Country Roads Program, Council now has a concept design for the proposed safety upgrades on High Street, and is keen to gather community feedback on the design before works begin in early 2020.

The goal of the Yea Streetscape Safety Upgrade Project is primarily to improve the safety of pedestrians crossing the road and vehicles reversing out of the angle parking in High Street. Council is investing \$170,900 in the project and the Victorian Government's Fixing Country Roads Program is providing \$341,800 to carry out the works.

The concept design proposes making both directions of traffic one lane rather than two and constructing a number of new kerbs which will reduce the distance pedestrians have to cover between the footpath and the median strip (middle section of the road). These kerbs will also function as a barrier between traffic and the angle parking, protecting those reversing out.

To address visibility issues, the concept design proposes changing the most troublesome sections of parallel parking to angled parking and providing better direction for long vehicles about the best places for them to park – a particular challenge on long weekends.

We are also taking this opportunity to replace the irrigation system on the median strip, which will help us keep the grass green and improve the appearance of this important open space.

We understand that the community has a number of different views on how best to address safety concerns on High Street Yea, and Council is keen for these ideas to inform the final design.

We do have some budget constraints and safety standard guidelines which mean there are some limitations about what changes can be made to the concept design at this stage. Some of the ideas put forward during this consultation may be perfect for Council's longer term traffic plans for Yea, so it's absolutely worth sharing your thoughts with us now.

To start gathering ideas and feedback on the concept design, Council will be holding a consultation session on Thursday 27 June for traders who operate businesses on and around High Street. This will be an opportunity for traders to learn more about how the works might affect them and share their ideas about what works they think the project needs to include.

Council will also be hosting an all-day drop-in session on 11 July at the Yea Library for the community to learn more about the project and have their say on whether it meets the current and future safety needs of residents and visitors.

Victorian Bushfire Centre

The Victorian Government wants to hear from community members about a proposal for a new Bushfire Education, Science and Reflection Centre which was announced on the 10th Anniversary of the 2009 Bushfires.

You can register your views about the best location for the Centre and the sort of things you would like to see in it. The consultation is open now and runs until 15 August. If you would like to know more or have a view about this proposal, please visit the website engage.vic.gov.au.

NAIDOC Week

I would also like to remind our community that next week, 1-7 July is National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance Committee (NAIDOC) week. This year's theme is Voice, Treaty and Truth.

There are a wide range of activities occurring across the Shire involving our traditional owners, the Taungurung People. A list of events can be found on our website.

17. ASSEMBLIES OF COUNCILLORS

This report presents the records of assemblies of Councillors for 22 May 2019 to 19 June 2019, for Council to note in accordance with Section 80A of the *Local Government Act 1989* (the *Act*).

- 46 -

Officer Recommendation

That Council receives and notes the record of assemblies of Councillors for 22 May 2019 to 19 June 2019.

Background

In accordance with Section 80A of the *Act*, written assemblies of Councillors are to be reported at an Ordinary Meeting of Council.

An assembly of Councillors includes advisory committees, where one or more Councillors were present, along with planned or scheduled meetings involving at least half of the Councillors and a Council officer.

A Councillor who has a conflict of interest at an assembly of Councillors, must disclose the conflict of interest, and leave the meeting while the matter is being discussed.

Discussion

A written record is required to be kept of every assembly of Councillors, including the names of all Councillors and staff at the meeting, a list of the matters considered, any conflict of interest disclosed by a Councillor, and whether a Councillor who disclosed a conflict left the meeting.

Meeting Name/Type	Council Pre-Meet
Meeting Date:	22 May 2019
Matters Discussed:	 82 Rollasons Road Thornton Permit Amendment 2018/229 – Oswald Drive 20 Lot Residential Subdivision Planning Scheme Amendment – C67 – Alexandra Waste Facilities Grants and Contributions Program Panel Recommendations - April 2019 Draft Murrindindi Shire Tourism and Events Strategy Instruments of Delegation, Appointments and Authorisations Yea Saleyards Committee of Management Membership Endorsement Audit and Risk Advisory Committee Minutes Confirmation of Audit and Risk Advisory Committee Chairperson CONT19/2 - Corporate and Outdoor Uniform Supply
Councillor Attendees:	Cr C Bisset, Cr S McAulay, Cr L Dunscombe, Cr R Bowles, Cr J Ashe, Cr M Rae, Cr E Lording
Council Officer Attendees	C Lloyd, M Chesworth, S McConnell, S Brown, D Jackson, T Carter
Conflict of Interest Disclosures	: Nil

The following summary details are for 22 May 2019 to 19 June 2019:

Meeting Name/Type	Briefing
Meeting Date:	5 June 2019
Matters Discussed:	 DELWP - Forest Modernisation Program Council Grants Program Update Proposed Removal of Library Fines Alexandra Youth Precinct Masterplan Capital Works Monthly Reporting – April Borrowings Policy Budget Submissions Road Toll
Councillor Attendees:	Cr C Bisset, Cr S McAulay, Cr L Dunscombe, Cr R Bowles, Cr J Ashe, Cr M Rae, Cr E Lording
Council Officer Attendees	C Lloyd, M Chesworth, S McConnell, S Brown, S Coller, G Haylock
Conflict of Interest Disclosures	s: Nil

Meeting Name/Type	Briefing
Meeting Date:	12 June 2019
Matters Discussed:	 Planning Scheme Amendment Request – 265 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road, Kinglake Central (Kinglake Cemetery Proposal) Procurement Policy Annual Review 2019 Customer Service Policy Updated Grants Policy Alexandra Youth Precinct Masterplan Budget Submissions
Councillor Attendees:	Cr C Bisset, Cr S McAulay, Cr L Dunscombe, Cr R Bowles, Cr J Ashe, Cr M Rae, Cr E Lording
Council Officer Attendees	C Lloyd, M Chesworth, S McConnell, S Brown, D Jackson, T Carter, S Coller, G Haylock
Conflict of Interest Disclosures	: Nil

Meeting Name/Type	Post Council Meeting	
Meeting Date:	12 June 2019	
Matters Discussed:	1. Budget Submissions	
	2. Grant Funding Agreement – Fixing Country Roads	
Councillor Attendees:	Cr C Bisset, Cr S McAulay, Cr L Dunscombe, Cr R Bowles,	
	Cr J Ashe, Cr M Rae, Cr E Lording	
Council Officer Attendees	C Lloyd, M Chesworth, S McConnell, S Brown, G Haylock, T	
	Carter	
Conflict of Interest Disclosures: Nil		

Meeting Name/Type	Workshop
Meeting Date:	19 June 2019
Matters Discussed:	 518 Whittlesea-Kinglake Road - Use and Development of Land for the Purpose of a Dwelling Introduction to Domestic Waste Water Management Plan Swimming Pool Update Communications Strategy – Councillor Briefing Health Check Report
Councillor Attendees:	Cr C Bisset, Cr S McAulay, Cr L Dunscombe, Cr R Bowles, Cr J Ashe, Cr M Rae, Cr E Lording
Council Officer Attendees	C Lloyd, M Chesworth, S McConnell, S Brown, M Crane, N Stewart, S Coller
Conflict of Interest Disclosures	: Nil

Council Plan/Strategies/Policies This matter is consistent with the Council Plan 2017-2021 Our Promise strategy to 'expand our communication'.

For full details of Council's requirement for assemblies of Councillors, refer to Section 80A of the *Local Government Act 1989.*

- 48 -

Financial Implications and Risk

There are no financial or risk implications.

Conflict of Interest

Any conflicts of interest are noted in the assembly of Councillors tables listed above.

RESOLUTION:

Cr J Ashe / Cr M Rae

That Council receives and notes the record of assemblies of Councillors for 22 May 2019 to 19 June 2019.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

File Reference	Date Seal Affixed	Description of Documents	Signatures of Persons Sealing
D19/5075	23 May 2019	Deed of Variation of Lease between Murrindindi Shire Council and Murray Leadbetter t/a ML Accounting Solution for Kinglake Rebuilding Advisory Centre	Craig Lloyd Cr Margaret Rae
CONT 17/23	23 May 2019	Formal Instrument of Agreement between Murrindindi Shire Council and Argyle Maintenance Unit Trust T/AS Argyle Maintenance Services for Yea Shire Hall - External Restoration Works	Craig Lloyd Cr Margaret Rae
SF/3027	3 June 2019	Deed of Variation of Lease between Murrindindi Shire Council and Jodie Jackson t/a Up To Date Books and Training for Kinglake Rebuilding Advisory Centre	Craig Lloyd Cr Margaret Rae
SF/2390	5 June 2019	Deed of Variation of Lease between Murrindindi Shire Council and Lara Mandeno for Kinglake Rebuilding Advisory Centre	Craig Lloyd Cr Leigh Dunscombe
SF/1176	5 June 2019	Deed of Variation of Lease between Murrindindi Shire Council and Leadbeater Group Pty Ltd for Kinglake Rebuilding Advisory Centre	Craig Lloyd Cr Leigh Dunscombe
SF/3073	5 June 2019	Licence between Murrindindi Shire Council and Kinglake Football Netball Club Inc. for CA 10, Township of Kinglake, Parish of Kinglake (Kinglake Memorial Reserve)	Craig Lloyd Cr Leigh Dunscombe
CONT19/2	14 June 2019	Formal Instrument of Agreement between Murrindindi Shire Council and Hip Pocket LV Pty Ltd for Corporate and Outdoor Uniform Supply	Craig Lloyd Cr Charlotte Bisset
CONT19/2	14 June 2019	Formal Instrument of Agreement between Murrindindi Shire Council and SafePak Industrial Supplies for Corporate and Outdoor Uniform Supply	Craig Lloyd Cr Charlotte Bisset
SF/123	13 June 2019	S11A. Instrument of Appointment and Authorisation (<i>Planning and Environment Act</i> <i>1987</i>) - Murrindindi Shire Council	Craig Lloyd Cr Charlotte Bisset

<u>18.</u> <u>SEALING REGISTER</u>

File Reference	Date Seal Affixed	Description of Documents	Signatures of Persons Sealing
SF/123	13 June 2019	S6. Instrument of Delegation - Members of Staff	Craig Lloyd Cr Charlotte Bisset
SF/123	14 June 2019	S5. Instrument of Delegation to the Chief Executive Officer	Cr Sandice McAulay Cr Charlotte Bisset

Officer Recommendation

That the list of items to which the Council seal has been affixed be noted.

RESOLUTION:

Cr R Bowles / Cr E Lording

That the list of items to which the Council seal has been affixed be noted.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

<u>19.</u> <u>CONFIDENTIAL ITEMS</u>

The Local Government Act 1989 section 89(2) allows Council to resolve to close a meeting to the public to consider confidential information relating to any of the following matters:

- (a) personnel matters
- (b) the personal hardship of any resident or ratepayer
- (c) industrial matters
- (d) contractual matters
- (e) proposed developments
- (f) legal advice
- (g) matters affecting the security of Council property
- (h) any other matter which the Council or special committee considers would prejudice the Council or any person
- (i) a resolution to close the meeting to members of the public.

Where possible Council will resolve to make public any decision it makes in a closed meeting where the resolution does not disclose confidential information. There may be occasions where Council cannot make its decision public.

The meeting is being closed to consider the Confidential Minutes from 22 May 2019.

Recommendation

That Council, in accordance with the *Local Government Act 1989* section 89(2)(d), resolve to close the meeting to the members of the public to endorse the Confidential Minutes from 22 May 2019.

RESOLUTION:

Cr M Rae / Cr L Dunscombe

That Council, in accordance with the *Local Government Act 1989* section 89(2)(d), resolve to close the meeting to the members of the public to endorse the Confidential Minutes from 22 May 2019.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

The meeting closed to the public at 7.53 pm

The meeting re-opened to the public at 7.59 pm.

RESOLUTION:

Cr L Dunscombe / Cr E Lording

That Council re-open the public participation for Daniel Clark and Kath Sanders to speak at Open Forum.

CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY

The Chairperson declared Public Participation Time.

20. PUBLIC PARTICIPATION TIME

20.1 OPEN FORUM

Daniel Clark and Kath Sanders spoke about ongoing matters affecting them at Rubicon Village.

The Chairperson closed Public Participation Time.

There being no further items of Business, the Chairperson declared the meeting closed at 8.07pm.

CONFIRMED THIS

CHAIRPERSON